
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 
To: Members of the Audit & Governance Committee 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the Audit & Governance 
Committee 

 

Wednesday, 23 November 2022 at 2.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 

 
If you wish to view proceedings, please click on the Live Stream link on the 
website. 
 

 
Stephen Chandler 
Interim Chief Executive 

November 2022 
 
Committee Officers: Committee Services 

Email: committees.democraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

Membership 

 
Chair – Councillor Roz Smith 

Deputy Chair - Councillor Brad Baines 

 
Councillors 

 
Yvonne Constance OBE 

Ted Fenton 

Nick Leverton 
 

Ian Middleton 
Freddie van Mierlo 

Michele Paule 
 

Judy Roberts 
 

 

Co-optee 

 
Dr Geoff Jones 
 
Notes: 

 
• Date of next meeting: 18 January 2023 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 
partners. 

(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 

The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or email 
democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the document.  

 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declaration of Interests - see guidance note  
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2022 and to receive 
information arising from them. 

 

4. Petitions and Public Address  
 
‘Members of the public who wish to speak at this meeting can attend the meeting in person 

or ‘virtually’ through an online connection. To facilitate ‘hybrid’ meetings we are asking that 

requests to speak are submitted by no later than 9am four working days before the meeting 
i.e., 9am on Thursday 17 November 2022. Requests to speak should be sent to 

jonathan.deacon@oxfordshire.gov.uk. If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a 

written statement of your presentation to ensure that if the technology fails, then your views 
can still be taken into account. A written copy of your statement can be provided no later 

than 9am 2 working days before the meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 
1 A4 sheet. 
 

5. Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22 (Pages 9 - 10) 
 

Report by the Director of Finance. 
 
The report summarises the status of the audit of the 2021/22 Statement of Accounts and 

provides the latest position on the Infrastructure Asset issue impacting on both the 
2020/21 and the 2021/22 accounts. 

 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the current status of the Statement of 
Accounts for both 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

 

6. Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 Update (Pages 11 - 18) 
 
Report by the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer. 

 
On 20 July 2022, the Committee approved the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 
the year 2021/22. Local authorities are required to prepare an AGS to be transparent about 

their compliance with good governance principles and to give an opinion on the 
effectiveness of those arrangements. As part of the process, authorities are expected to 

highlight particular areas of focus for the year following.  The report updates the Committee 
on the eight particular areas of focus identified for 2022/23. 
 

The Committee is RECOMMENDED to receive the update on the actions from the Annual 
Governance Statement 2021/22 and to make any comment upon them. 

 
 



- 2 - 
 

 

7. Annual Whistleblowing Report (Pages 19 - 32) 
 

Report by the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer. 
 

A revised Whistleblowing Policy was presented to the Audit and Governance Committee 
on 17 November 2021.  The revised policy draws from best practice elsewhere and 
benefited from prior consideration by the Audit Working Group.  It focuses primarily on 

employees, councillors and contractors.  A copy of the policy is attached to the report. 
 

The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the number of incidents of Whistleblowing 
during the 2021-22 financial year.  The nine whistleblowing incidents are recorded in the 
report. 

 

8. Counter Fraud Plan - Progress Report (Pages 33 - 38) 
 
Report by the Director of Finance. 

 
This report presents a summary of activity against the Counter Fraud Plan for 2022/23, 
presented to the July 2022 Audit & Governance committee meeting.  The Counter Fraud 

plan supports the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy by ensuring that the 
Council has proportionate and effective resources and controls in place to prevent and 

detect fraud as well as investigate those matters that do arise. 
 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the summary of activity against the Counter 

Fraud Plan for 2022/23. 
 

9. Audit Working Group update - 9 November 2022 meeting (Pages 
39 - 40) 

 

Report by the Director of Finance. 
 

This report sets out the matters considered by the Audit Working Group at the meeting 
held on 9 November 2022. 
 

The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the report. 
 

10. Treasury Management Midterm Review 2022/23 (Pages 41 - 58) 
 
Report by the Director of Finance. 

 
The report covers the treasury management activity for the first half of 2022/23 in 

compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2021.  It provides 
an update on the anticipated position and prudential indicators set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 agreed as 

part of the council’s budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy in February 2022 
 

The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the report, and to RECOMMEND Council to 
note the council’s treasury management activity the first half of 2022/23. 
 

 
 



- 3 - 
 

 

11. Ernst & Young Update  
 

A verbal update from the representatives of the external auditors, Ernst & Young. 
 

12. Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service Statement of Assurance 
2021-22 (Pages 59 - 70) 

 
Report by the Deputy Chief Fire Officer. 
 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 2018 sets out a requirement for all 
fire and rescue authorities to provide annual assurance on financial, governance and 

operational matters through publishing an Annual Statement of Assurance. It covers 
activities across the Service including Fire and Rescue response, Road Safety, 
Emergency Planning, and Trading Standards. 

 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to consider and approve the Community Safety 

Services Statement of Assurance 2021/22 document for publication. 
 

13. Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021/22 (Pages 71 - 
102) 

 

Report by the Deputy Chief Fire Officer. 
 

The Community Safety Services, Annual Report is a public facing document detailing 
performance across the directorate’s strategic priorities between 2021 and 2022. The 
report details how Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service met its responsibilities to protect 

communities, reduce harm and save lives. It covers activities across the Service 
including Fire and Rescue response, Road Safety, Emergency Planning, Gypsy and 
Traveller Services and Trading Standards. 

 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to consider and approve the Community Safety 

Services Annual Report 2021/22 for publication. 
 

14. Committee's Work Programme 2022/23 (Pages 103 - 104) 
 
To review the Committee’s Work Programme. 

 
 

Close of meeting 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Wednesday, 21 September 2022 commencing at 

2.00 pm and finishing at 4.25pm 

 
Present: 

 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Roz Smith – in the Chair 
 

 Councillor Brad Baines (Deputy Chair) 
Councillor Ted Fenton 

Councillor Donna Ford 
Councillor Nick Leverton 
Councillor Judy Roberts 

Councillor Robin Bennett (in place of Councillor Ian 
Middleton 

Councillor Susanna Pressel (in place of Councillor 
Michele Paule) 
Councillor Richard Webber (in place of Councillor 

Freddie van Mierlo) 
 

Other Members in 
Attendance: 
 

 
Dr Geoff Jones (Co-optee) 

  
Officers: 
 

 

Whole of meeting Anita Bradley (Director of Law and Governance), Lorna 
Baxter (Director of Finance), Ian Dyson (Asst Director of 

Finance), Sarah Cox (Chief Internal Auditor), Chris 
Reynolds (Committee Officer) 
 

Part of meeting 
 

Belinda Dimmock-Smith (Capital Programme Manager), 
Richard Webb (Asst Director of Regulatory Service) 

 
Other Persons in 
attendance 

Maria Bulmer and Adrian Grindley  (Ernst and Young) 

  
 

The Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting, together with [a schedule of addenda tabled 
at the meeting ][the following additional documents:] and decided as set out below.  

Except as insofar as otherwise specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained 
in the agenda and reports [agenda, reports and schedule/additional documents], 

copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

15/22 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ian Middleton, Michele Paule 
and Freddie van Mierlo.  Councillor Robin Bennett substituted for Councillor 

Middleton, Councillor Susanna substituted for Councillor Paule and Councillor 
Richard Webber substituted for Councillor van Mierlo. 
 

16/22 MINUTES  
(Agenda No. 3) 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2022 were approved as a correct record 

 

17/22 LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN'S REVIEW OF OXFORDSHIRE 

COUNTY COUNCIL  
(Agenda No. 5) 

 

The Committee considered a report from the Director of Law and Governance which 
gave details of the annual review report by the Local Government and Social Care 

Ombudsman.  This related to the complaints made to the LGSCO about the Council 
in the previous financial year. 
 

Anita Bradley, Director of Law and Governance, presented the report.   
 

In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were raised:- 
 

(a) The Director of Law and Governance said that she would update the 

committee on developments for a Joint Complaints Handling Code 
 

(b) Improvements in working practices in terms of complaints handling were being 
actioned and should be completed in this administrative year 
 

(c) In terms of best practice, the Council sought to learn lessons from the 
outcomes of cases in this and other authorities and followed national best 

practice 
 

(d) The Director of Law and Governance explained the remedies being actioned in 

cases concerning Educational Health care plans and children in care 
  
RESOLVED to receive the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s Annual 

Review of Oxfordshire County Council for 2021/22, and note the work undertaken by the 
Council with regard to its handling of complaints  

 

 

18/22 MONITORING OFFICER ANNUAL REPORT  
(Agenda No. 6) 

 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Law and Governance and 
Monitoring Officer which gave an overview of democratic and ethical governance 

activities in the Council during the year 2021/22 in relation to the functions of this 
committee. 

Page 2



 

 
Anita Bradley, Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring Officer, presented the 

report 
 

In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were raised:- 
 

(a) Members welcomed the low number of complaints received under the 

Members’ code of conduct 
 

(b) The Director of Law and Governance referred to ongoing training on the code 
of conduct and to particular issues concerning the use of social media by 
elected members 

 
(c) Members asked that the programme of members’ training be reviewed and 

that the particular needs of new members be taken into account.  The Director 
of Law and Governance suggested that a survey be undertaken to identify 
these ongoing training needs 

 
(d) The Committee should consider whether members’ training should be 

mandatory 
 
RESOLVED to:- 

 
1)  note and endorse the report 

 
2) ask the Director of Law and Governance and Head of Governance to review 

the programme of members training, taking into account the Committee’s 

comments minuted above 
 

 
 

19/22 DRAFT STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/22 (REPORT TO FOLLOW)  
(Agenda No. 7) 

 
The Director of Finance reported that the completion of the draft statement of 
accounts had been delayed but this had now been published on the Council’s 

website and copies would be circulated to members that day.  The Chair asked 
whether the Committee might wish to meet informally online for a briefing on the 

accounts at a future date. 
 
RESOLVED to:- 

 
1) note the position 

 
2) ask officers to arrange the date and time for an informal briefing for members 

on the draft statement of accounts 

 

20/22 REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL REGULATIONS - PROPOSED CHANGES TO 

THE CAPITAL SECTION'  
(Agenda No. 8) 

Page 3



 

 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Finance on proposed 

changes to the sections on capital within the Council’s financial regulations. 
 

Belinda Dimmock-Smith, Capital Programme Manager, presented the report 
 
In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were made:- 

 
(a) The Capital Programme Manager agreed to circulate details of the decision-

making structures regarding capital programme approvals 
 

(b) The Director of Finance agreed to check whether insurance was provided 

when dealing with bids for infrastructure funding  
 

(c) The Capital Programme Manager explained the check and challenge 
processes within the decision-making processes for capital programme 
projects 

 
(d) Members asked about the protocols in place concerning informing members of 

proposed high-value disposals within their divisions.  The Capital Programme 
Manager explained that local members were key stakeholders in the disposal 
process and consulted. She also outlined the threshold limits on capital spend 

where a Cabinet decision was required. 
 

 
RESOLVED to:- 

 

1) endorse the amendments to the Financial Procedure Rules (Financial 
Regulations, Section 5 ‘Capital’) as set out in Annex 1 to the report and submit 

to Council for approval.   
 

2) ask officers to incorporate the protocols concerning member engagement in 

the capital disposals process 
 

 
 

21/22 CONSTITUTION WORKING GROUP  
(Agenda No. 9) 

 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Law and Governance on 
proposals for membership and ongoing work of the Constitution Review Group. 

 
The Chair said that a recommendation within the report would be amended to state 

the correct political balance on the Working Group 
 
Anita Bradley, Director of Law and Governance, presented the report.  She 

recommended that, in view of the volume of work required on the forthcoming 
electoral boundary review, further work on the constitution review should be 

postponed until January 2023.   
 

Page 4



 

In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were made;- 
 

(a) The Director of Law and Governance agreed to liaise with West Oxfordshire 
District Council, on possibilities for sharing best practice on the constitution 

review 
 

(b) The Council’s  Governance review would need to be initiated through the 

Cabinet and Council 
 

(c) The Director of Law and Governance said that proposals for an improved web 
presence were to be considered by Council on 7 October 2022 

 
RESOLVED to :- 

 

1) agree that the Cross-Party Constitution Working Group that it established on 
15 September 2021 should continue its work; 

 

2) agree that the Constitution Working Group comprise 3 Liberal Democrat – 
Green Alliance members, 2 Labour and Co-operative members, 3 

Conservative and Independent Alliance members and 1 Independent member 
 

3)  ask the Constitution Working Group to produce a report with further 

recommendations for amendment of the Council’s Constitution for the 
Committee’s consideration.  

 
 
 

22/22 SURVEILLANCE COMMISSIONER'S INSPECTION AND REGULATION OF 

INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT  
(Agenda No. 10) 

 
The Committee considered a report from the Director of Law and Governance on 

covert activities undertaken by the council between April 2021 and March 2022 in 
relation to The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  

 
Richard Webb, Assistant Director of Regulatory Service, presented the report. 
 

In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were made:- 
 

(a) Members welcomed the content of the report and the reassurances given 
regarding the conduct of surveillance activities 
 

(b) The Assistant Head of Regulatory Service answered a number of questions 
regarding the report 

 
RESOLVED to:- 

 

1)  note the use of activities within the scope of the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act by the Council, and  

 

Page 5



 

2) ask the Head of Regulatory Service to send members a link to the updated 
Policy for Compliance with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 as 

set out in Annex 1 
 

 

23/22 ERNST & YOUNG - VERBAL UPDATE  
(Agenda No. 11) 

 

Maria Bulmer and Adrian Grindley, Ernst and Young, gave an update on the status of 
the 2020-21 audit of accounts.  The audit was substantially complete but there were a 

number of outstanding issues concerning infrastructure assets which were also being 
experienced in councils nationally. The Director of Finance explained the current 
position and plans to complete the audit in due course. 

 
Adrian Grindley also explained the position regarding the Pension Fund audit for 

2020-21 which would be signed at the same time as the County Council audit of 
accounts. 
 
RESOLVED to note the verbal report 

 

24/22 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN - PROGRESS REPORT  
(Agenda No. 12) 

 
The Committee considered a report by the Director of Finance providing an update 

on the Internal Audit Service, including resources and completed and planned audits. 
 
Sarah Cox, Chief Internal Auditor, presented the report  

 
In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were made:- 

 
(a) The Chair welcomed the positive news regarding performance indictors within 

the Audit service 

 
(b) The Chief Internal Auditor answered questions regarding recruitment 

difficulties and measures being taken to train staff internally to equip them for 
more senior roles 
 

(c) The Chief Internal Auditor agreed to liaise with the Adult Social Services 
department about members’ concerns regarding the move away from the 

electronic time management system for visits by carers to payments for 
planned visits 
 

(d) The Chief Internal Auditor clarified the changes to performance indicators 
outlined in the report and confirmed that there was an increased cost in 

outsourcing some internal audits but this only affected 3 audits in the past year 
 
RESOLVED to note the progress with the 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan and the 

outcome of the completed audits 
 

 

Page 6



 

 
 

25/22 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY PERFORMANCE REPORT  
(Agenda No. 13) 

 

The Committee considered a report from the Director of Finance covering the 
treasury management activity for the first quarter of 2022/23 in compliance with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2021.  It provided an update on 

the anticipated position and prudential indicators set out in the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 agreed as part of the 

council’s budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy in February 2022 
 
Tim Chapple, Treasury Manager, presented the report. 

 
In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were raised:- 

 
(a) The Director of Finance and the Treasury Manager answered questions 

regarding the implications of changes to interest rates for the Council’s 

financial position 
 

(b) The Treasury Manager explained that was not a need for the Council to 
borrow externally in the medium term financial plan. 

 
RESOLVED to:- 

 
1) note the report; 

 
2) recommend the Council to note the council’s treasury management activity the first 

quarter of 2022/23; 
 

3) record the Committee’s thanks to the Treasury Management Team for the excellent 
performance detailed in the report 

 

 

26/22 ANNUAL REPORT OF HEALTH & SAFETY  
(Agenda No. 14) 

 
The Committee considered the annual report from the County Health and Safety 
Manager which provided information about the work of the Corporate Health and 

Safety Team, the Council’s health and safety performance over the year 2021/22 and 
its plans for 2022/23 

 
Paul Lundy, County Health and Safety Manager, presented the report. 
 

In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were raised:- 
 

(a) Concerns were expressed about the need for staff to use the lone working 

mobile phone application.  The Health and Safety Manager explained that the 
app was not available to all staff but had been targeted to areas where staff 

were at greater risk 
 

Page 7



 

(b) The Health and Safety Manager explained the safety measures in place to 
monitor the working environments of staff who were working on a hybrid basis 

(c) Concerns were expressed about the need to address the mental health 
implications of staff working at home and members requested that the Head of 

HR provide information on the support available to staff who experience 
isolation issues in these circumstances 
 

(d) The Health and Safety Manager explained that training on Health and Safety 
was provided to staff and monitored routinely 

 
RESOLVED to note the report 

 

27/22 RISK MANAGEMENT  
(Agenda No. 15) 

 

The Committee considered a report from the Corporate Director, Customers, 
Organisational Development and Resources which provided an update on 
Oxfordshire County Council’s risk management strategy, training completed so far 

and revised strategic risk register. 
 

Ian Dyson, Assistant Director of Finance, presented the report 
 
In the subsequent discussion on this item, the following points were raised:- 

 
(a) The Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that monitoring of the Council’s 

strategic risks was reported in the regular Business Management report to 

Cabinet 
 

(b) There was a recognised need for the Council to focus on the opportunities 
presented by the management of risks and not to regard this as a negative 
process 

 
RESOLVED to:- 

 
a) note the Risk Management Overview;  

 

b) note the revised Risk and Opportunities Management Strategy 2022 2023 
 

 
 

 

 
……………………………………………………..  in the Chair 

 
Date of signing …………………………………………………. 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 8



 

Divisions Affected – N/A 

 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

23 November 2022 
 

Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22 
 

Report by Director of Finance 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to 

 

Note the current status of the Statement of Accounts for both 2020/21 and 
2021/22. 

Executive Summary 

 
2. This report summarises the status of the audit of the 2021/22 Statement of 

Accounts and provides the latest position on the Infrastructure Asset issue 
impacting on both the 2020/21 and the 2021/22 accounts. 

 

2021/22 Statement of Accounts 

 

3. Following the last Audit & Governance meeting, in September, the draft 2021/22 
Statement of Accounts was published on our website. In accordance with the 
relevant legislation a public inspection notice period began. This started on 23 

September and ended on 3 November. We have not received any notices from 
the public regarding inspecting our accounts.  

 
4. The external audit of the Statement of Accounts will commence in week 

commencing 2 January 2023 and is likely to last till mid-March 2023. 

 
5. A session will be arranged for early December to go through the main points of 

the Statement of Accounts and provide a forum for questions to be raised and 
responded to.  

 
Infrastructure Assets 

 

6. Further to previous reports, the technical accounting issue on Infrastructure 
Assets remains. On 27 October 2022 the Department of Levelling Up, Housing 
& Communities (DLUHC) issued consultation on a draft Statutory Instrument. 

Details can be found here. The consultation closed on 7 November and was a 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

https://consult.levellingup.gov.uk/redmond-response-team/cc1364f3/


way for DLUHC to gain views from sector stakeholders on the effectiveness and 
clarity of the proposed statutory override. At the time of writing this there was 
no further outcome of this consultation. 

 
7. It is hoped that once the Infrastructure Asset issue is resolved and the wording 

of the statutory override is agreed then the 2020/21 accounts can be signed off. 
The statutory override will need to be laid before parliament for 21 days which 
means it could be late December, at the earliest, for the closure of 2020/21 to 

be progressed. 
 

Financial Implications 

 
8. There are no financial implications of this report. 

 
Comments checked by: 

 
Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance, Lorna.Baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 

 

9. The Council must ensure that arrangements are in place to comply with the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 as amended and statutory guidance, including the Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. Public sector organisations 
responsible for locally delivered services are required by legislation to comply 

with the terms of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code). The 2021/22 edition of the Code has been 
developed by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) and has effect for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 
2021. 

 
 

Comments checked by: 

 
Kate Charlton, Interim Head of Legal, Kate.Charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
 
LORNA BAXTER 

Director of Finance 
 

 
Contact Officer: Richard Quayle, Chief Accountant 

Richard.Quayle@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

November 2022 

Page 10

mailto:Lorna.Baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Kate.Charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Richard.Quayle@oxfordshire.gov.uk


AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 23 NOVEMBER 2022 

 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2021/22 

– UPDATE ON ACTIONS 

REPORT BY THE DIRECTOR OF LAW & GOVERNANCE AND 

MONITORING OFFICER 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to receive this update on the actions 

from the Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 and to make any 
comment upon them. 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2. On 20 July 2022, this Committee approved the Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS) for the year 2021/22. Local authorities are required to prepare an AGS to 
be transparent about their compliance with good governance principles and to 

give an opinion on the effectiveness of those arrangements. As part of the 
process, authorities are expected to highlight particular areas of focus for the year 

following. 

 
3. This report therefore updates the Committee on the eight particular areas of focus 

identified for 2022/23. 
 

ANNUAL   GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ACTIONS FOR 2022/23 
 

4. The Annex to this report is an extract from the Annual Governance Statement 
outlines the eight areas for particular focus during 2022/23 and the outcomes 
expected.  In short, these were: 

 
Service area Action 

Directorate Scheme 
of Delegation: 

Powers and Financial 
Powers 

To review and update all outwardly facing documentation as 
well as review the location of the information. 

Cherwell-Oxfordshire 

Decoupling 

Programme 

Joint Shared Services and Personnel Committee (JSSP) with 
revised terms of reference, to provide suitable oversight and 
decision-taking concerning the termination of the agreement. 
 
A Joint Officer Transition Working Group will oversee a programme 
of due diligence and service reviews is underway with the aim of 
keeping the best interests of residents at the centre of decision 
making. 
 
Where appropriate for each council, revised partnership 
arrangements will remain in place within the framework of new 
agreements.  

Constitution Review The Constitution Working Group advised Committee that the 
timescale in which to produce an updated Constitution that is fit 
for purpose and understandable would not be achievable within 
the initial anticipated timescale of 31 March 2022.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



Committee agreed to extend the deadline for the review until 
July 2022. Update to be provided to Committee in due course. 

Capital Programme Governance has been reviewed for implementation throughout 
2022/23. 

Data Subject Access 
Requests 

Review resource to deal with data subject access requests in 
view of an increase in the numbers being received. 

Member Code of 
Conduct Training 

 To be provided 

Information 

Governance 
Group/Board 

To review the reporting framework for the Information 
Governance Group (IGG) and Information Governance Board 
(IGB). Work on this is due to commence on 25 April 2022. 

Risk Management 
Training 

To be provided. 

 
Updates 
 
Officers will attend the meeting to answer any queries about these updates.  

However, here is a position statement for each. 

 
A. Directorate Scheme of Delegation: Powers and Financial Powers 

 
5. The Scheme of Delegation pages within the Constitution (7.1 and 7.2) have 

been reviewed and updated. The revised versions were presented at, and 

approved by, Full Council on 1 November 2022 ahead of being updated on the 
Council’s website.  
 

6. Revisions to the format and presentation of this section of the Constitution were 
previously agreed at the Council meeting on 7 October 2022. It was agreed 

that the previous Part 7.1 (which sets out the Officer Scheme of Delegation) 
would become a new Part 7.2. It was also agreed that Article 13 (which should 
be read alongside the Officer Scheme of Delegation and defines the roles of 

the Council’s Senior Leadership Team) would be incorporated into the main 
body of the Constitution as a new Part 7.1. No substantive changes, however, 

were made to content. 
 

7. The amendments mainly relate to changes in titles and roles in the Senior 

Leadership Team. 
 

8. Directorate level Schemes of Delegation have been reviewed by 
representatives of each directorate and updated versions are being submitted 
to the Council’s Governance Team. Directorate level Schemes of Delegation 

are not included in the Constitution but will be held by each directorate with a 
central copy held by the Governance Team on behalf of the Monitoring Officer.  

 
9. Financial Powers: The schemes of delegation for each directorate are currently 

being reviewed and updated. It is expected that the updated versions will be 

ready for sign off by the Directors and the S151 Officer by end of December 
2022. 

 
 
 

Page 12



B. Cherwell-Oxfordshire Decoupling Programme 

 

10. Following the decision in February 2022 to dissolve the s113 partnership 
between Oxfordshire County Council and Cherwell District Council, the 

Councils put in place a structured programme of review to agree the details of 
separation and consider where joint working should continue, in the best 
interests of residents. A series of service reviews were undertaken, and 

recommendations made to the Joint Shared Services and Personnel 
Committee (JSS&PC), concluding in early July 2022. Full details of the process 

are set out in the reports available on the Committee’s website. A final report 
was made to the County Council’s Cabinet on 19 July 2022. This report sets 
out the transition arrangements for the end of the original partnership and the 

confirmation of ongoing partnership working in aspects of community safety 
and regulatory services, emergency planning, marketing and engagement, 

internal audit, counter fraud, IT and Digital Services, and Climate Action. The 
Cabinet report also sets out financial implications. The conclusion of 
subsequent agreements of each of the ongoing areas of joint working, within 

the terms agreed by JSSP&C and the transition arrangements agreed by 
Cabinet, was delegated to the Councils Monitoring Officers. These agreements 

are now in place and allow for regular review, amendment and termination by 
each council.  
 

11. To ensure that the interests of both councils were properly represented during 
the process of separation, the statutory positions of Head of Paid Service, s113 

Officer and Monitoring Officer were separated at the start of the process. As 
services were decoupled, the relevant Senior Leadership Team roles were 
separated, as agreed at each phase between the Cherwell Chief Executive and 

the County Council’s Acting Chief Executive. As joint working ended in three 
phases, the Chief Executive and the Acting Chief Executive agreed transition 

arrangements for each individual element with operational continuity ensured 
by a partnership officer working group and an internal programme management 
group. 

 
C. Constitution Review 

 
12. The Constitution Working Group met between November 2021 and July 2022 

and produced recommendations including incorporating the Articles into the 
Main Body of Constitution, updating the Contract Procedure Rules and 
amending two of the Member Protocols. It also recommended changes to the 

presentation of the Constitution on the Council’s website. The 
recommendations were accepted by Council and final editing is being done 

before the amended Constitution is published. 
 

13. However, in view of the motion approved at Full Council on 1 November 2022 

recommending a review of the Council ‘s Governance Arrangements with a 
further Council decision by May 2024, together with the forth coming Electoral 

Boundary Review, a Constitutional Review will need to follow after these other 
reviews.  

 
D. Capital Programme 

 

14. The Capital Programme Governance was comprehensively reviewed.  Key 
actions are on track to be fully implemented by the end of 22/23.  Work to 
date has included: 

 
• New governance structure established 

Page 13



• New governance processes developed, documented, and being 
applied 

• Financial regulations updated 

• New templates developed, documented, and being implemented 
• Staff support/workshops and training planned  

 
E. Data Subject Access Requests   

 

15. Good progress has been made. With support from temporary staff the 
backlog of requests has been significantly reduced.  The number of requests 

older than three months is down to around 30, having been running at around 
60 over recent months.  Temporary staffing arrangements will continue in an 
effort to maintain progress in coming months.  Implementation of the Law and 

Governance Transformation Programme will provide the required permanent 
staff resources for the Information Management Team to manage future Data 

Subject Access Requests.    
 

F. Member Code of Conduct Training 

 
16. A training session has already been provided to Members. Further training to 

be offered, with dates to be confirmed in due course. 
 

G. Information Governance Group/Board 

 
17. The actions in relation to the audit of Information Governance (IG) at Cherwell 

District Council have been transferred from Anita Bradley and Oxfordshire’s 
IG team to Cherwell Officers. 
 

18. Following the recruitment of a permanent Head of Governance, the 
Information Governance Group and Information Governance Board will be re-

established.  A meeting of the Group is expected to be held before the end of 
the calendar year with a Board meeting to follow early in the New Year. 

 
H. Risk Management Training 

 

19. Risk management training was provided to members in June 2022, and to 
SLT in August 2022. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

20. There are no financial implications directly relating to, or arising from, the 
recommendation in this report. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

21. The Council has a legal duty to agree an Annual Governance Statement. This 

report does not itself raise legal implications but is an update on the actions 
arising from last year’s AGS and is consistent with the responsibility of this 

Committee to ensure the effectiveness of the Council’s governance. 

 

EQUALITY & INCLUSION IMPLICATIONS 
 

22. The recommendations in this report do not themselves raise equality 

Page 14



implications. However, the effectiveness and inclusivity of the Council’s 
governance arrangements are integral to the effective running of the Council and 
of the outcomes for the community. 

 
 

ANITA BRADLEY 

Director of Law and Governance & Monitoring Officer 

 
Background  papers: Nil 
 
Contact Officers:  Simon Harper, Head of Governance 
   simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
   Sarah Smith, Governance Officer 
   governance@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
  

Page 15

mailto:simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:governance@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 
Annex  
 

Annual Governance Statement 2021/22  
ANNEX 2 - SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES 
 
Actions identified for 2022/23 

 Action now planned for 2022/23 

 

Timescale for 

Completion 

 

Responsible  

Officer 

Monitoring  

Body 

1 Directorate Scheme of Delegation: 

Powers and Financial Powers 

 

 To review and update all outwardly 

facing documentation, as well as 
review the location of information. 

31 July 2022 

 
 

Anita Bradley, 

Director of Law 
& Governance, 
and Ian Dyson, 

Assistant 
Director for 

Finance 
 

Senior 

Leadership 
Team (SLT) 

2 
 

 
 

Cherwell-Oxfordshire Decoupling 
Programme 

 

 Joint Shared Services and 

Personnel Committee (JSSP) with 
revised terms of reference, to 

provide suitable oversight and 
decision-taking concerning the 
termination of the agreement.  

 

 A Joint Officer Transition Working 

Group will oversee a programme of 
due diligence and service reviews is 
underway, with the aim of keeping 

the best interests of residents at the 
centre of decision making.  

 

 Where appropriate for each council, 
revised partnership arrangements 

will remain in-place within the 
framework of new agreements.  

 

31 August 
2022 

. 
 

 

Robin Rogers, 
Programme 

Director – 
Covid 

Response  

Senior 
Leadership 

Team (SLT) 
and Audit & 

Governance 
Committee 

 

3.  Constitution Review 
 

 The Constitution Working Group 

advised Committee that the 
timescale in which to produce an 

updated Constitution that is fit for 
purpose and understandable would 

not be achievable within the initial 
anticipated timescale of 31 March 
2022. 

 31 July 2022 Anita Bradley, 
Director of Law 
& Governance 

Audit & 
Governance 
Committee 

Page 16



 

 Committee agreed to extend the 

deadline for the review until July 
2022. 

 Update to be provided to 
Committee in due course. 

 

4. Capital Programme 

 

 Governance has been reviewed for 

implementation throughout 2022/23 
 

31 March 2023 Lorna Baxter, 
Chief Finance 
Officer and 

Belinda 
Dimmock-

Smith, Capital 
Programme 
Manager  

SLT 

5. Data Subject Access Requests 

 

 Review resource to deal with data 

subject access requests in view of 
an increase in the numbers of 
requests being received. 

 

25 April 2022 Anita Bradley, 

Director for 
Law & 

Governance 

SLT 

6. Member Code of Conduct Training 
To provide further training  

May 2022 Anita Bradley, 
Director of Law 

& Governance 

Audit & 
Governance 

Committee 

7. Information Governance 
Group/Board  

 

 To review the reporting framework 
for the Information Governance 

Group (IGG), and Information 
Governance Board. Work on this is 

due to commence on 25 April 2022. 
 

16 May 2022 Anita Bradley, 
Director of Law 

& Governance 

SLT 

8. Risk Management Training 

 
September 

2022 

Ian Dyson, 

Assistant 
Director of 
Finance and 

Louise Tustian, 
Head of Insight 

and Corporate 
Programmes 

SLT 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Divisions Affected – N/A 

 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  

23 November 2022 
 

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY 
 

Report by the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

1. To note the number of incidents of Whistleblowing during the 2021-22 

financial year. 

 

Background 

 

2. A revised Whistleblowing Policy was presented to the Audit and Governance 

Committee on 17 November 2021.  The revised policy draws from best 

practice elsewhere and benefited from prior consideration by the Audit 

Working Group.  It focuses primarily on employees, councillors and 

contractors.  A copy of the policy is attached to the report. 

 

3. The main thrust of national whistleblowing guidance and policies is on 

encouraging internal persons to blow the whistle on a situation in the public 

interest, that the public might otherwise lack the internal knowledge to raise. 

The policy, however, recognises that the public may sometimes also wish to 

raise a whistleblowing concern. The emphasis is on encouraging legitimate 

concerns rather than being unduly prescriptive on who can raise concerns. 

 

4. There is sometimes confusion on whether an individual raising a concern is 

whistleblowing or making a complaint.  If the concern refers to others, for 

example the organisation, other staff, clients or the wider public, this is 

categorised as whistleblowing. If the concern refers to the individual, for 

example a personal grievance about terms of employment, pay or unfair 

treatment, this would be categorised as a complaint or grievance. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



5. A single point of confidential contact is available at 

whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk and overseen by the Monitoring Officer 

and Chief Internal Auditor. The policy gives the contact details of senior 

managers and external organisations in case a person wishes to raise matters 

that way in the first instance.  

 

Incidents of Whistleblowing during 2021-22 

 

6. Nine whistleblowing incidents were recorded from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 

2022.  They are summarised below: 

 

a) Allegation regarding a transport provider and Covid grants – reported April 

2021, investigation ongoing. 

b) Allegations against a School Business Manager – reported June 2021, 

investigation completed July 2021. 

c) Allegation regarding a Head Teacher and a School Governing Body – 

reported July 2021, investigation ongoing. 

d) Allegation regarding the appointment of a member of staff – reported 

August 2021, investigation completed April 2022. 

e) Allegation regarding a transport provider and Covid grants – reported 

August 2021, investigation completed September 2021. 

f) Allegation relating to accounting issues within an Early Years setting – 

reported October 2021, investigation completed October 2021. 

g) Allegation of conflict of interest relating to a contractor – reported 

December 2021, investigation completed February 2022. 

h) Allegation against a school transport provider – reported December 2021, 

investigation completed May 2022. 

i) Allegations against a Senior Council Officer – reported January 2022, 

investigation completed July 2022. 

 

7. Two of the incidents were reported by Council employees, three were from 

Council contractors, three were anonymous and one was categorised as 

vexatious. 

 

8. For the first six months of 2022-23, 1 April to 30 September 2022, six 

whistleblowing incidents have been recorded.  These incidents will be reported 

to the Audit and Governance Committee in due course. 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 

9. The Whistleblowing Policy supports the Council’s organisational values, most 

notably ‘equality and integrity in all that we do’ and ‘taking responsibility’.  

Page 20

mailto:whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Financial Implications 

 

10. No direct financial implications 

Risk Management Implications 

 

11. Without clear arrangements for employees to raise whistleblowing concerns 

safely, it is difficult for an organisation effectively to manage the risks it faces. 

Legal Implications 

 

12. Under the Scheme of Delegation in the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer 

has authority to agree and adopt the governance policies for the Council, 

including the Whistleblowing Policy, following consultation with the Leader, 

Deputy Leader and Director of Finance. 

 

13. The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 sets out a framework for a worker to 

make disclosure (whistleblowing) about categories of wrongdoing, if there is a 

public interest in doing so. A person raising such a concern has a right not to 

suffer any detriment. The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is consistent with the 

expected framework, and other best practice guidance, and sets out the 

expected protections. 

Equality and Inclusion Implications 

 

14. The Whistleblowing Policy is intended to give confidence to all who wish to 

raise an allegation of wrongdoing and not to disadvantage any individual that 

has one or more protected characteristic.  

 

Anita Bradley 

Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 

Annex: Whistleblowing Policy  

 

 

Contact Officer: Simon Harper, Head of Governance 

 Email simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

  

 

November 2022 

Page 21

mailto:simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Whistleblowing Policy 

A. Introduction 

 
B. What is whistleblowing 

 
C. Who can use this Policy 

 
D. Confidentiality 

 
E. Supporting and protecting whistleblowers 

 
F. Untrue allegations 

 
G. Role of trade unions and professional associations 

 
H. How to blow the whistle 

 
I. Review of policy, contacts and flowchart 

 
A. Introduction 

 

1. This policy explains the types of concerns that are regarded as whistleblowing; how 

they can be raised directly with the council; and details of alternative channels, where 

this is more appropriate. The aim of this policy is primarily to ensure that our 

employees, agency workers, self-employed contractors, volunteers and councillors with 

Oxfordshire County Council know how to raise concerns about the council . 

 
2. This policy aims to: 

 
a) encourage people working for the council to report any suspected wrongdoing as 

soon as possible, in the knowledge that their concern will be taken seriously and 

investigated as appropriate, and that their confidentiality will be respected as far as 

possible. 

b)  provide guidance on how to raise those concerns. 

c)  reassure anyone raising a genuine concern, made in the public interest, that this 

can be done without fear of reprisals, even if they turn out to be mistaken. 

 
3. Concerns about an employee's own employment should be raised by following the 

procedures set out in the council’s Resolving Grievances Policy. 
 
 

1 Page 23



2  

B. What is 'Whistleblowing'? 

 
4. Whistleblowing is the raising of any serious concern about a fraud, crime, danger or 

other serious risk that could threaten customers, the public, colleagues or the Council’s 

reputation. The concern must relate to something which it is in the public interest, and not 

solely a person’s own interests, to raise.  An employee who makes a disclosure under 

this policy must reasonably believe: 

 
(i) that they are acting in the public interest; and 
(ii) that the disclosure tends to show past, present or likely future wrongdoing 

falling into one or more of the following categories: 

• conduct which is an offence or breach of the law; 
• health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as 

employees/workers; 
• damage to the environment; 

• abuse of c lients; 

• safeguarding concerns relating to children, young people or adults with 
care and support needs; 

• practice which falls below established standards of practice; 
• unauthorised use of public funds; 
• possible fraud, corruption or financial irregularity including unauthorised 

use of Council funds (please see the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy); 

• unauthorised disclosure of confidential information; 

• unreasonable conduct resulting in unfair pressures on staff; 
• any other unethical conduct; and 
• covering up information about anything listed above. 

 
5. The above list is neither exclusive nor exhaustive. Thus, any serious concerns that you 

have, which are in the public interest, about any aspects of service provision can be 

reported under the Whistleblowing Policy.  In some instances, concerns expressed about 

the conduct of officers or members of the council or others acting on behalf of the council 

will need to be considered under the relevant complaints arrangements, 

eg. complaints about councillors would normally need to be reviewed under the 

Complaints Arrangements underpinning the Member Code of Conduct 

 
6. These issues could have arisen in the past, be currently happening or likely to happen in 

the future. 

 
C. Who can use this Policy? 

 
o A Council employee (current or past) 

o A Council Contractor, agency worker or consultant 
o A Volunteer with the council 
o A Councillor 

o Supplier (or someone working for the supplier, employed or self-employed) 

o If necessary, a member of the public 

Page 24



3  

7. Members of the public can raise concerns through the Council’s complaints processes 

or via the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman or the Council’s External 

Auditors. However, while the Whistleblowing Policy is intended mainly for concerns 

raised by employees, and for those working with or for the Council, any concerns from 

the members of the public raised through this Policy will be reviewed. 

 
8. If a member of the public or a member of staff contacts a County Councillor with a 

whistleblowing concern, then the Councillor should contact the Monitoring Officer in the 

first instance. 

 
D. Confidentiality 

 
9. All concerns will be treated sensitively and with due regard to confidentiality and where 

possible every effort will be made to protect a whistleblower’s wishes. However, the 

Council does not encourage staff to make disclosures anonymously as this can constrain 

the process of investigation.  The information will, normally, need to be passed on to 

those with a legitimate need to see it in order to investigate the matter and to act upon 

any findings Annex 3 includes some further guidance about the protections when a 

concern is raised. 

 
10. It may be necessary for the whistleblower to provide a written statement or act as a 

witness in any subsequent disciplinary proceedings or enquiry. This will always be 

discussed with the whistleblower first. 

 
11. Where concerns are expressed anonymously, the Council’s Monitoring Officer will 

determine how best an investigation may still be carried out, depending on the nature of 

the allegations, the evidence/information presented, and the public interest involved. 

 
E. Supporting and protecting whistleblowers 

 
12. Staff will not suffer any detrimental treatment as a result of raising a concern or making a 

disclosure. Employees have a right to report their concerns if they have reasonable belief 

that wrongdoing may be occurring, or has occurred, within the Council. We recognise 

that deciding to report a concern can be a difficult decision to make. We will not tolerate 

any harassment or reprisals of whistleblowers and will take appropriate action to protect 

you when you raise a concern in good faith. 

 
13. The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 protects employees from reprisal, victimisation 

or harassment at work if they raise a concern that they reasonably believe is in the public 

interest. If any persons raising a concern believe themselves to be suffering a detriment 

for having raised a concern, this should be made known to the Monitoring Officer (contact 

details below). 

Page 25



4  

F. Untrue allegations 

 
14. If you make an allegation in good faith and in the public interest but it is not confirmed 

by the investigation, no action will be taken against you. Allegations that are made 

without a reasonable belief as to their truth or made maliciously are a serious matter 

and are likely to be a disciplinary offence. 

 
G. Role of trade unions and professional associations 

 
15. Employees can raise concerns directly themselves or can ask their trade union or 

professional association to do so on their behalf. Whistleblowers can bring a trade 

union or professional association representative or friend with them to any meetings. 

H. How to blow the whistle 

Step 1 – Blowing the whistle 

16. You can raise your concern in writing at whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk or verbally 

via the Whistleblowing hotline: 01865 328573. 

 
17. This is a confidential email address and telephone number, attended by the service 

reporting directly to the Council’s Chief Internal Auditor. You can also whistleblow in 

writing to the Chief Internal Auditor (Whistleblowing), Oxfordshire County Council, New 

Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND. 

 
18. It is hoped that in many cases employees will be able to raise any concerns with their line 

manager or director, as a means of resolving concerns quickly, effectively and at the 

earliest opportunity.  A list of senior managers is included at Annex 1.  Similarly, there 

are external organisations you may wish to contact or consult, listed at Annex 2. You 

should give as much evidence or other reasonable grounds as you can when you raise 

your concern. This will help with any investigation into the alleged wrongdoing.  

 

Step 2 – how the Council will respond to your whistleblow 

 
19. Once you’ve raised your concern it will be acknowledged as soon as possible. Within 

10 working days you’ll receive a reply setting out: 

 

 How the concern will be dealt with 

 Whether any further information is needed from you at this stage. 

 An estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response. 

 Whether any initial enquiries have been made. 

 Whether further investigations will take place, and if not why  not. 

 Details of support available to you. 

Page 26

mailto:whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk


5  

20. Advice for managers and councillors on dealing with concerns is available from the 

Counter Fraud Team at whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
Step 3 - Investigation 

21. If an investigation has been considered necessary, it may lead to one or more of the 

following: 

 
 an internal investigation under the direction of the Monitoring Officer for example it 

might take the form of a disciplinary investigation or an investigation by Internal 

Audit. 

 a referral to the Police. 

 a referral to the council's external auditor. 

 arranging an external independent investigation. 

 
 

Step 4 - Outcome 

22. The council will inform you in writing of the outcome of any investigation or any action 

taken, subject to the constraints of confidentiality and the law. 

 
23. If you do not believe your concern has been addressed adequately, you can raise it 

with an independent body such as: 

 
 the council's external auditor 

 Trade Union 

 Citizens’ Advice Bureau 

 a relevant professional body or regulatory organisation 

 a relevant voluntary organisation 

 Police 

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

 Equalities and Human Rights Commission 

 NSPCC should the concern relate to a child. 

 
See Annex 2 for contact details. 

 
24. There is a continuing duty to the Council not to disclose confidential information.  This 

does not prevent you from seeking independent advice at any stage nor from discussing 

the issue with the charity Protect (previously called Public Concern at Work) on 020 3117 

2520 and www.protect-advice.org.uk, in accordance with the provisions of the Public 

Interest Disclosure Act 1998. 

 

 

 

Page 27

mailto:whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk
http://www.protect-advice.org.uk/


6  

I. Review of this policy 

 
25. The Council’s Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for this Policy, how it is used 

and how the Policy is working. It will be reviewed annually, with the Monitoring Officer 

taking an annual report to the Audit & Governance Committee to assess the 

effectiveness of the Policy and the arrangements and training underpinning it. The 

Monitoring Officer will also make an annual report on the type of cases dealt with 

under this Policy. 

 

Responsible Officer:  Monitoring Officer 

 
Published: November 2021 

 

Page 28



7  

Annex 1 - Contact Details (Oxfordshire County Council) 

Confidential email:  whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
List of senior managers: 
 

Director of Finance Tel no: 07393 001218 
Lorna.Baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
County Hall, New Road, Oxford. OX1 1ND  

Chief Internal Auditor Tel no: 01865 328573 

Sarah.Cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
County Hall, New Road, Oxford. OX1 1ND  

Head of Paid Service/Chief 

Executive 

Tel no: 01865 323907 

Stephen.Chandler@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford. OX1 1ND  

Director of Law & Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 

Anita.Bradley@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND  

Head of Legal and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer 

Kate.Charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 

Directors 
 

Corporate Director for Adult and 
Housing Services 

 
Corporate Director for Children’s 
Services 

 
Corporate Director for Public Health 

and Wellbeing 
 
Corporate Director for Environment 

and Place 
 

Corporate Director for Customers 
and Organisational Development 
 

 
 

Karen.Fuller@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 
Kevin.Gordon@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 
Ansaf.Azhar@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Bill.Cotton@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

Claire.Taylor@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Fire Officer and Corporate 

Director for Community Safety 

Rob.MacDougall@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Your Local Councillors (if you live in 
Oxfordshire) 

Web site: www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  
Click on: council services>about your 

council>councillors 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 29

mailto:whistleblowing@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Lorna.Baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Stephen.Chandler@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Anita.Bradley@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Kate.Charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Karen.Fuller@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Kevin.Gordon@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Ansaf.Azhar@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Bill.Cotton@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.Taylor@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.MacDougall@oxfordshire.gov.uk


8  

Annex 2 – External Organisations 
 
Contact Details 
External Auditors 
Ernst & Young LLP 

Apex plaza, Forbury Road, Reading. RG1 1YE 
Web: www.ey.com 

Or: 0118  928 1100 
The Local Government 

and Social Care 
Ombudsman 

PO Box 4771, Coventry. CV4 
0EH www.lgo.org.uk 

Tel no.  0300 061 0614 
The Equalities and 
Human Rights 

Commission 

www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/whistleblowing#report 

The Health and Safety 
Executive 

(Regional Office) 

Priestley House, Priestley Road, Basingstoke, 
Hampshire.  RG24 9NW 

Web: www.hse.gov.uk Tel no.  0300 790 6787 
The Environment 
Agency (Thames 

Regional Office) 

Kings Meadow House, Kings Meadow Road, Reading. 
RG1 8DQ 

Web: www.environment-agency.gov.uk Tel No. 03708 
506506 

Citizens Advice  Bureau www.citizensadvice.org.uk 
Whistleblowing Helpline 

Free advice for NHS and 
Social Care 

https://speakup.direct/ Tel No. 08000 724725 

The NSPCC 
Whistleblowing 
Helpline (when it 

relates to children) 

0800  028 0285 

Whistleblowing Advice  Line  | NSPCC 

Police www.gov.uk/contact-police 
Your Local Councillors 

(if you  live  in Oxfordshire) 
You can find your Oxfordshire County Councillor on our 

website: 
Any directly relevant Body listed in the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy  website under “Blowing  the whistle: list of prescribed people  and bodies 
  

Page 30

http://www.ey.com/
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/whistleblowing#report
http://www.hse.gov.uk/
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/
https://speakup.direct/
https://www.nspcc.org.uk/keeping-children-safe/reporting-abuse/dedicated-helplines/whistleblowing-advice-line/
http://www.gov.uk/contact-police
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?VW=TABLE&amp;PIC=1&amp;bcr=1
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?VW=TABLE&amp;PIC=1&amp;bcr=1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies--2/whistleblowing-list-of-prescribed-people-and-bodies


9  

 

Annex 3 – Whistleblowing & protections 

 
a) If a whistleblower has any doubt about whether it is lawful to make a disclosure, it 

is recommended that they take advice from the Director of Law and Governance or 

Chief Internal Auditor, before disclosing the detail to avoid inappropriate disclosure. 

This is so the whistleblower keeps any protection the law affords as a 
consequence of their actions. The law protects the whistleblower from any 

retaliation or discrimination which may occur, so long as any “protected 

disclosure” made is done so in good faith, it is proportionate to the circumstances 
and importantly that it is made to a prescribed person or relevant body only. 
to include reference to the for further advice regarding whether it is lawful to make a 
disclosure 

b)  An employee is not protected or immune from other action being taken against 

them if making the disclosure breaks the law 

c)  Any protection the whistleblower may be entitled to by law, may be compromised 

or lost if the disclosure is made to the press. 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 31



10  

Whistleblowing Procedure – Flow chart 

 

 
 
 

Whistleblow 
made 

Manager receives whistleblow* 

Advise individual it will be 
referred immediately 

 
Receive whistleblow 

If whistleblow 
was verbal it 
may be 

necessary to 
interview the 
complainant at some 
point in the process t 
progress with 
investigation 

Investigator reviews whistleblow and determines 

course of action 

No further investigation 
required 

Further investigation required and 

investigation  officer appointed 

Preliminary investigation 
undertaken 

Council will write to 

complainant within 
10 working days of 

receiving 
whistleblow Investigator(s) meet to agree 

course of action: 

Conclude case, or 

Agree Further Action 

Further Action which may include: 
Internal audit/Investigation 

Team 

Disciplinary action 
Referral to police 

External Auditor 

Independent inquiry 

Write to complainant to 

confirm outcome (if the law 
allows) 

Page 32



 

 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE  

23 November 2022 
 

COUNTER FRAUD UPDATE 
 

Report by Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to 

 

a) Note the summary of activity against the Counter Fraud Plan for 2022/23. 

Executive Summary 

 

2. This report presents a summary of activity against the Counter Fraud Plan for 

2022/23, presented to the July 2022 Audit & Governance committee meeting.  

The Counter Fraud plan supports the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption 

Strategy by ensuring that the Council has proportionate and effective resources 

and controls in place to prevent and detect fraud as well as investigate those 

matters that do arise. 

Counter-Fraud Team Update 

 
Counter-Fraud Service & Resources Update 

3. As reported to the July 2022 meeting, there has been a change to resourcing 
and the team structure following the Audit Manager Counter Fraud Lead, 

leaving. An interim structure for the Counter Fraud team has been implemented 
from August 2022 with the two existing Counter Fraud Officers given additional 

responsibilities whereby they are acting up as Senior Counter Fraud Officers. In 
addition to the current Data and Intelligence Apprentice, a new apprenticeship 
post of Counter Fraud Assistant has been recruited, who started with us in mid-

October 2022, and has already commenced the formal apprenticeship training . 
This structure is being trialled for a period of 6 months.  

 
4. As noted in previous updates, the Counter Fraud team now receive, log and 

triage all whistleblowing reports. The Chief Internal Auditor and Senior Counter 

Fraud Officer meet with the Director of Law & Governance monthly to review, 
discuss and progress all whistleblowing investigations.  

 
 
 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



5. Key Performance Indicators & Trends 2022/23 (position at end of 
October 2022): 

 
Indicator Value 

New Cases 2022/23 (01.04.2022 – 

01.11.2022) 
 

 

23 cases  

Current open cases (by year) 
 

 
 
 

 
With the Police 

2022/23: 12 
2021/22: 4 

2020/21: 5 
2019/20: 3 
 

 
4 cases under joint investigation with 

the police 

YTD New Cases by type  
 

Direct Payment: 4 
Employee: 3 
Blue Badge Misuse: 3 

Whistleblowing: 6 
Contractor: 3 

Financial Abuse: 3 
Insurance: 1 

YTD New Cases by referral source 
 

DWP: 1 
Employee/Internal Control: 16 

Telephone contact: 3 
Whistleblowing Email: 2 

Web form (member of public): 1 
 

Loss, recovery and prevented future 
loss YTD 

Recovery: £374 

Outcomes YTD (dismissals, 
prosecutions, repayments, 
Investigation Reports etc) 

Not proven: 3 
Referred to Internal Team / Central 
Government Department: 4 

Disciplinary Written Warning: 1 
Blue Badge Seized: 2 

Blue Badge Warning Letter Issued: 1 
 

Fraud Awareness, Comms and 
Training sessions delivered YTD 

Fraud Awareness training and 
discussion sessions with: 

Financial Assessments Team & the 
Social Care Debt Recovery Team 

(April 2022) 
Direct Payments Team (June 2022) 
 

News Headline on World 
Whistleblowing Day (June 2022) 

 

Page 34



Multiple internal communications 

planned for International Fraud 
Awareness Week 2022 (14-18th 
November) 

 

 
 

 
 
 
6. Update against the Counter-Fraud Plan 2022/23 

 
Objective Actions Update Nov 2022 

Strategic: 

Continue to build 
the Counter 

Fraud team to 
support the 
Council to 

prevent and 
detect fraud and 

irregularity. 
 
Culture 

Capacity 
Competence 

 

1. Trial the interim team 

structure with a view to 

agreeing a permanent 

solution 

2. Recruit a new Counter 

Fraud Apprentice 

3. Identify any appropriate 

training for members of the 

team. 

4. Senior CF Officer to 
undertake CIPFA 

Accredited Counter Fraud 
Specialist (ACFS) training. 

1. Interim team structure 

trial in place until end of 

January 2023. 

2. New Counter Fraud 

Apprentice started 17 

October 2022 and has 

commenced the formal 

apprenticeship training.  

3. Training subject to 

review through 

extended 1:1 sessions 

with team.  

4. Senior CF Officer has 

commenced ACFS 

training.  

Proactive: 

Undertake 

proactive 
counter-fraud 
activities to 

reduce the risk 
of fraud in the 

Council.  
 
Culture 

Capability 
Capacity 

Communication 
Collaboration 

5. Complete and routinely 

update the Fraud Risk 

Register 

6. Deliver fraud awareness 

training 

7. Undertake joint fraud/audit 

exercises  

8. Deliver fraud 

communications in line with 

a comms strategy 

9. Blue Badge enforcement 

exercises quarterly  

10. Maintain fraud procedures, 

webpages and referral 

routes up to date (ongoing 

and by Q4) 

 

5. Fraud Risk Register now 

business as usual (bi-

monthly review meetings) 

6. Fraud awareness 

training delivered for 

Financial Assessments 

Team and Direct Payments 

Team 

7. Joint fraud/audit 

proactive exercises being 

developed. Currently 

working together re schools 

assurance.  

8. Multiple fraud comms 

issued as per the comms 

plan (see KPI’s above) 

9. Blue Badge enforcement 

exercise now undertaken 

quarterly  

Page 35



10. Work currently being 

completed to update fraud 

referral routes, specifically 

in relation to Direct 

Payments and Deprivation 

of Assets cases.  

 

Reactive: 

Manage fraud 
referrals and 

investigations 
 
Capacity 

Competence 
Collaboration 

11. Manage fraud referrals 

12. Investigate  

13. Implement appropriate 

sanctions 

14. Agree and track actions to 

improve the control 

environment 

15. Work with partner agencies 

and teams. 

11&12. Fraud referrals 

received and investigated 
ongoing as appropriate. 

Currently 12 open cases. 
13. Sanctions applied as 

appropriate (see KPI’s 

above).  
14. Actions within 

investigation reports 
monitored for 
implementation.  

15. Joint working with TVP 

in particular is 

developing well, with 

several joint 

investigations ongoing 

(joint interviews under 

caution and 

investigations plans). 

Data: Use data 

to detect and 

prevent fraud 
 
Competence 
Collaboration 

11. Prepare for and 

undertake the 2022 NFI 

data upload (Q2) 

12. Continue to participate 

into potential data 

matching exercise with 

other LA’s. 

17. NFI upload was completed 

at end of October 2022. 

18. Ongoing work with 

networks.  

 

 
7. Cases to Note (open/closed) 

 

There are currently 4 cases under joint investigation with the Police (2 employee, 1 
Direct Payment and 1 provider). These cases are progressing jointly and further 

updates will be provided to the Committee once a charging decision has been made. 
 
 
8. Other updates  

Blue Badge: 

The Counter Fraud team have now undertaken two on-street Blue Badge Enforcement 
exercises this year – one in March and another in June. These were undertaken as a 
joint enforcement exercise with our external parking enforcement provider, Conduent. 

The results were reported to the July 2022 Audit & Governance Committee.  

Page 36



 
Since reporting to the July Committee, one case was referred to court for Prosecution 
under s.117 Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 for misuse of a blue badge. It resulted 

in the person being found guilty and was fined £376.  
 

The next exercise is planned for November 2022.  
 
 
NFI: 

The NFI results were reported in the March 2022 update to the Audit & Governance 

Committee. The only outstanding matches to complete investigations are in Pensions, 
which are ongoing.  
 

The data upload for the 2022 commenced at the end of September 2022 and is almost 
complete. Match returns are expected during February / March 2023. The committee 

will be updated once the work commences to review these.  
 

 

Training and awareness:  

 

Staff training and awareness sessions has included schools, (Head Teachers, 
Governors and Business Managers forums), Finance staff, Financial Assessment and 
Social Care Debt Recovery team & Direct Payments teams. There is an ongoing 

programme of training and awareness sessions.  
 

Financial Implications 

 
9. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. The report 

presents amounts recovered and prevented future losses from individual 
investigations.  

 
Comments checked by: 
 

Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance, lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Legal Implications 

 
10. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. The Director of 

Law and Governance and also the Head of Legal are involved in all 
Whistleblowing referrals and fraud referral cases that proceed to investigation 

stages.  
 
Comments checked by: 

 
Kate Charlton, Interim Head of Legal, kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk   

 

Page 37

mailto:lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Staff Implications 

 
11. There are no direct staff implications arising from this report.   

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 

12. There are no direct equality and inclusion implications arising from this report.  

Sustainability Implications 

 
13. There are no direct sustainability implications arising from this report.  

Risk Management 

 
14. The are no direct risk management implications arising from this report.  

 
 
 

 
Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance 

 
Annex: Nil  
 

Background papers: Nil 
 

 
Contact Officers: Sarah Cox, Chief Internal Auditor 

sarah.cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

  
November 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 38

mailto:sarah.cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

23 November 2022 
 

Report of the Audit Working Group 9 November 2022 
 

Report by Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance  
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the report.  

 

Executive Summary 

 
2. The Audit Working Group (AWG) met on 9 November 2022. Officers attended 

to provide a further update on one of the risks from the Leadership Risk Register 
in relation to Capital Infrastructure Programme Delivery.  

 

Introduction  
 
3. Attendance: 

Full Meeting: Chairman Dr Geoff Jones Councillors: Roz Smith, Brad Baines, 
Judy Roberts. 

 
Officers: Sarah Cox, Chief Internal Auditor, Jonathan Deacon, Committee 

Officer, Ian Dyson, Assistant Director of Finance, Bill Cotton, Corporate 
Director, John McLauchlan, Head of Infrastructure Delivery Kate Charlton, 
Interim Head of Legal. 

 
 

Matters to Report: 
 
Housing Infrastructure Fund 1  

 
4. Officers previously attended the January 2022 Audit Working Group (AWG) 

meeting to provide an update on the status of the Housing Infrastructure Funded 
schemes (HIF) which the Council is in contract with Homes England to deliver. 

The group requested on-going assurance on the management of the risks in 
relation to the funding and deliverability of these major programmes and officers 
were invited to the November 2022 meeting to provide a further update.    
 

5. The Group were updated on the assurance review of the HIF1 programme that 

was undertaken in April / May 2022 by the Local Partnerships. The need for the 
review was agreed between Oxfordshire County Council and Homes England 
as part of negotiations for Homes England to provide additional funding towards 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



the scheme. This was a peer review process intended to provide assurance that 
the project or programme can progress successfully to the next stage. The 
report had an overall conclusion grading of Amber / Red. A set of 

recommendations to address the identified risks has been agreed. 
 

6. The Group discussed resourcing and staffing, communications, programme 
governance arrangements and performance management processes. A key 
stage of the programme will be the appointment of the design consultant/s by 

March 2023. At design stage the affordability and viability of the programme wi ll 
be reviewed and fully assessed.  

 
7. The Group noted that next Gateway Review is expected at the end of the detail 

design stage (2024) prior to Cabinet approval of the three works packages. The 

group also noted the intention to obtain planning approval in 2023.  
 

8. To support assurance that risks are being sufficiently managed and adequate 
governance arrangements are in place, the group requested that an updated 
position of the implementation of recommendations and the impact of any 

delays in addressing them is brought back to the next meeting of the AWG in 
December 2022. 

 

Financial Implications 

 

9. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
 

Comments checked by: Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance 
lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Legal Implications 

 

10. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.  
 
Comments checked by: Kate Charlton, Interim Head of Legal  

kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk    
 

Lorna Baxter  
Director of Finance  
 

Annex: None  
Background papers: None   

 
[ 
Contact Officer: Sarah Cox, Chief Internal Auditor.   

 Email: sarah.cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

November 2022 
 
Next AWG meeting:  14 December 2022  

Page 40

mailto:lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.cox@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

1 

 

 

 
AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 23 NOVEMBER 2022 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT MIDTERM REVIEW 2022/23 

 
Report by Director of Finance 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

1. Audit & Governance Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the report, and to 

RECOMMEND Council to note the council’s treasury management activity the first half of 

2022/23.  

  

Executive Summary 
 

2. This report covers the treasury management activity for the first half of 2022/23 in 
compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2021.  It provides an 

update on the anticipated position and prudential indicators set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement & Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 agreed as part 
of the council’s budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy in February 2022. 

 
3. The global economy has changed significantly since the strategy was agreed, and volatility 

in economic markets that began in early 2022 continued during the first six months of the 
financial year. Global and domestic inflationary pressures have led to central banks 
increasing base rates, with further rises forecast before the year end. Government 

announcements in September 2022 created widespread volatility in economic markets 
resulting in gilt yields rising by circa 1% and the value of investments in bond and equity 

funds temporarily dropping significantly.  
   

4. During the first half of the year there were no maturities of external debt. The council’s 

external debt balance remained at £313.38m on 30 September 2022. 
 

5. The average daily balance of temporary surplus cash invested in-house in the six months to 
30 September was £470.15m, compared to the £342.00m budget and reflects reprofiling in 
anticipated capital expenditure and higher balances of capital grants compared to the 

original forecast.  Over that period the average in-house return was 0.91%.  That was above 
the budgeted rate of 0.35% set in the strategy. This has produced gross interest receivable 

of £2.14m for the six months to 30 Sept 2022 compared to the budget of £0.77m.  
 
6. During the first half of the year the Council maintained its holding in external funds. Gross 

distributions from the council’s investments in pooled funds totalled £1.84m in the first half of 
the year, exceeding the budgeted figure of £1.56m. Forecast returns for the year are 

£3.81m, in line with the budget of £3.81m.  
 

Introduction 

 

Division(s): N/A 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10



 

2 

7. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management 2021 recommends that members are informed of Treasury 

Management activities at least four times per year. This report, and the quarterly updates, 
ensures the council’s reporting is consistent with best practice in accordance with CIPFA’s 

recommendations. 
 
8. The following annexes are attached 

 
Annex 1 Debt Financing 2022/23 

Annex 2 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) Debt Maturing 
Annex 3 Prudential Indicator Monitoring 
Annex 4        Specified & Non-Specified Investments 2022/23 

Annex 5        External Backdrop Provided by Link Treasury Services 

 
Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 
 

9. The Treasury Management Strategy & Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 outlines the 
council’s strategic objectives in terms of its debt and investment management for the financial 
year 2022/23.   

 
10. The strategy sets out that the forecast average cash balance for 2022/23 is £442m. The 

average base rate forecast was 0.35%  
 

11. The council intends to maintain its investment in strategic pooled funds with a purchase value 

of £101m (23%), with the remaining £34m (77%) being managed internally with a mixture of 
short, medium and long-term deposits. 

 

12. The strategy included the continued use of pooled fund vehicles with variable net asset value.  
 

13. The strategy for borrowing provided an option to fund new or replacement borrowing. The limit 
for internal borrowing was combined with the long term lending limit, and will not exceed 
£300m.  

 
 

External Context – Summary of backdrop provided by Link Treasury Services 
 

14. Economic backdrop: The UK avoided recession in the first quarter of 2022/23 with the 

economy growing 0.2% quarter on quarter. 
 

15. There are signs of higher energy prices creating more persistent downward effects in 
economic activity. Both industrial production (-0.3% month on month) and construction output 

(-0.8% month on month) fell in July 2022 for a second month in a row. Although some of this 
was probably due to the heatwave, manufacturing output fell in some of the most energy 
intensive sectors (e.g., chemicals), pointing to signs of higher energy prices weighing on 

production. With the drag on real activity from high inflation having grown in recent months, 
GDP is at risk of contracting through the autumn and winter months. 

 
16. CPI inflation eased from 10.1% in July to 9.9% in August, though inflation has not peaked yet. 

The easing in August was mainly due to a decline in fuel prices reducing fuel inflation from 

Page 42



 

3 

43.7% to 32.1%. And with the oil price now just below $90 per barrel, we would expect to see 
fuel prices fall further in the coming months.  

 
17. The labour market remained exceptionally tight. Data for July and August provided further 

evidence that the weaker economy is leading to a cooling in labour demand. Labour Force 
Survey (LFS) employment rose by 40,000 in the three months to July (the smallest rise since 
February). But a renewed rise in inactivity of 154,000 over the same period meant that the 

unemployment rate fell from 3.8% in June to a new 48-year low of 3.6%. The single-month 
data showed that inactivity rose by 354,000 in July itself and there are now 904,000 more 

inactive people aged 16+ compared to before the pandemic in February 2020. The number 
of vacancies has started to level off from recent record highs but there have been few signs 
of a slowing in the upward momentum on wage growth. Indeed, in July, the 3 month year on 

year rate of average earnings growth rose from 5.2% in June to 5.5%.  
 

18. The MPC has now increased interest rates seven times in as many meetings in 2022 and has 
raised rates to their highest level since the Global Financial Crisis. Even so, coming after the 
Fed and ECB raised rates by 75 basis points (bps) in their most recent meetings, the Bank of 

England’s latest 50 basis points hike looks relatively dovish. However, the UK’s status as a 
large importer of commodities, which have jumped in price, means that households in the UK 

are now facing a much larger squeeze on their real incomes. 
 

19. The full external context provided by link can be found in Annex 5. 

 
20. Interest Rate Forecasts Link Group provided the following forecasts on 27 September 2022: 

 

 
 
Treasury Management Activity 
 

Debt Financing 
 
21. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 assumed the level of external borrowing 

would increase by £46m during the financial year. As a result of slippage in the capital 
programme noted in the Capital Monitoring Report to Cabinet in July and October 2022 and 
the forecast for cash balances over the medium term being higher than anticipated this 

external borrowing does not need to be arranged in 2022/23.  
 

22. The Council’s cumulative total external debt remained at from £313.38m from 1 April 2022 to 
30 Sept 2022. No new debt financing has been arranged during the year.  The total forecast 
external debt as at 31 March 2023 is £306.38m.  The forecast debt financing position for 31 

March 2023 is shown in Annex 1. 

Page 43



 

4 

 
23. At 30 Sept 2022, the authority had 50 PWLB1 loans totalling £263.38m, nine LOBO2 loans 

totalling £45m and one long-term fixed Money Market loan totalling £5m3. The combined 
weighted average interest rate for external debt as at 30 June 2022 was 4.44%. 

 
Maturing Debt 
 

24. No debt matured during the quarter of the year. The Council is forecast to repay £7m of PWLB 
debt by 31 March 2023. The details are set out in Annex 2. 

 

Debt Restructuring 
   

25. The premium charge for early repayment of PWLB debt remained relatively expensive for the 
loans in the Authority’s portfolio and therefore unattractive for debt restructuring activity. No 

PWLB debt restructuring activity was undertaken during the first half of the year. However, 
given the forecast for bond rates, debt restructuring opportunities are being actively sought 

with our advisors, Link Treasury Services.  
 

LOBOs 
 

26. At the beginning of the financial year the Council held £45m of LOBO (Lender’s Option 

Borrower’s Option) loans where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the 
interest rate at set dates, following which the Authority has the option to either accept the new 
rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost.  £15m of these LOBOs had options during 

2022/23. To the 30 September 2022 none had been exercised by the lender.  
 

27. Increased gilt yields have raised the likelihood of lenders exercising their option to increase 
the rates on LOBOs. Given the level of cash balances and forecasts for gilt yields to lower 
over the medium term, the Treasury Management Strategy Team (TMST) have agreed that 

the council will repay any called LOBOs with internal borrowing over the medium term to avoid 
additional costs of servicing these instruments. The council is also exploring early repayment 

opportunities of LOBOs with Link Treasury Services.   

 
Investment Strategy 

 
28. The Council holds deposits and invested funds representing income received in advance of 

expenditure plus balances and reserves.  The guidance on Local Government Investments in 
England gives priority to security and liquidity and the Council’s aim is to achieve a yield 

commensurate with these principles.  The Council continued to adopt a cautious approach to 
lending to financial institutions and continuously monitored credit quality information relating 
to counterparties. 

 

                                                 
1 PWLB (Public Works Loans Board) is a Government agency operating within the United Kingdom Debt 

Management Office and is responsible for lending money to Local Authorities.  
2 LOBO (Lender’s Option/Borrower’s Option) Loans are long-term loans which include a re-pricing option for the 
bank at predetermined intervals. 
3 In June 2016, the Council’s LOBO with Barclays PLC was converted to a fixed rate loan at its current interest rate 
of 3.95% to mature on the 29th May 2065 with Barclays waiving their right to change the interest rate on the loan in 
the future. 

Page 44



 

5 

29. During the first half of the financial year term fixed deposits have been placed with other Local 
Authorities as per the approved lending list, whilst Money Market Funds have been utilised 

for short-term liquidity. Inter Local Authority lending remains an attractive market to deposit 
funds with from a security perspective, whilst the Government’s Debt Management Deposit 

Facility (DMADF) has also provided a competitive and secure counterparty. With rapidly 
increasing interest rates, the Council has taken a position of laddering investments, taking 
advantage of increased market rates and ensuring a continuous cycle of maturities to be 

invested at higher rates.  
 

30. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 
included the use of external fund managers and pooled funds to diversify the investme nt 
portfolio through the use of different investment instruments, investment in different markets, 

and exposure to a range of counterparties. It is expected that these funds should outperform 
the Council’s in-house investment performance over a rolling three-year period. The strategy 

permitted up to 50% of the total portfolio to be invested with external fund managers and 
pooled funds (excluding Money Market Funds). The performance of the pooled funds will 
continue to be monitored by the TMST throughout the year against respective benchmarks 

and the in-house portfolio.  
 

31. At the start of the year the UK Bank Rate was 0.75%, which was above the forecast of 0.25%. 
Official rates rose to 1.25% by June 2023 and again to 2.25% by September 2022. With 
ongoing inflationary pressures impacting on the UK economy, the current forecast is for 

interest rates to increase to a high of 5.00% by March 2023, then reduce to 2.50% by 2025. 
 

32. The long term lending limit for 2022/23 is £205m. During the first six months of the year the 
average available cash headroom within that limit was £10m.  

 
The Council’s Lending List 

 

33. The Council’s in-house cash balances were deposited with institutions that meet the Council’s 
approved credit rating criteria.  The approved Lending List is updated to reflect changes in 
counterparty credit quality with changes reported to Cabinet on a bi-monthly basis. There 

were no changes to the lending list in the first half of 2022. 

 
34. In the six months to 30 September 2022 there were no instances of breaches in policy in 

relation to the council’s Lending List. Any breaches in policy will be reported to Cabinet as 

part of the monthly Business Management & Monitoring report.  
 

Investment Performance 
 

35. Security of capital has remained the Authority’s main investment objective. This has been 

maintained by following the Authority’s counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for 2022/23 and by 

maintaining a limited exposure to “bail in” banks and favouring deposits with other Local 
Authorities and the DMADF. As at 30 September 2022, the Council had £344.0m deposited 
with 40 other Local Authorities with an average deposit total of £8.60m per authority., The 

maximum deposit with any single local authority was £21m. This was below the limit of £30m. 
The Council also had £80m deposited with the DMADF and £10m with banking institutions as 

at 30 September 2022. 

 

Page 45



 

6 

36. The average daily balance of temporary surplus cash invested in-house in the quarter to 30 
September 2022 was £470.15m, compared to the budget of £342.00m.  The Council achieved 

an average in-house return for that period of 0.91%, above the budgeted rate of 0.35% set in 
the strategy. This has produced gross interest receivable of £2.14m for the quarter to 30 

September compared to budget of £0.77m. 
 

37. Cash balances for the year are estimated to be £42.3m lower as they otherwise would have 
been as a result of negative DSG balances. The impact of this is an estimated opportunity 
cost of £0.47m in unearned interest during 2022/23.  

 
38. As the negative DSG balance is forecast to increase over the medium term, coupled with 

forecast increasing interest rates, the estimated opportunity costs of the negative balance is 
£2.45m in 2023/24, £2.60m in 2024/25 and £2.68m in 2025/26. 

 
39. Temporary surplus cash includes; developer contributions; council reserves and balances; 

trust fund balances; and various other funds to which the Council pays interest at each 
financial year end, based on a margin below the Sterling Overnight Interest Average. 

 
External Fund Managers and Pooled Funds  

 

40. During the first quarter of 2022/23 the Council maintained its holding in external funds. The 
value of the funds was £95.90m as at 30 September 2022 compared to £101.08m at 30 June 

2022. The original purchase cost of the portfolio in March 2019 was £101.0m. Weighted by 
original purchase value, pooled fund investments produced an annualised income return of 
3.67% for the period. These investments are held with a long-term view and performance is 

assessed accordingly. 
 

41. Gross distributions from pooled funds have totalled £1.84m in the first half of the year, 
exceeding the budgeted figure of £1.56m. 

 

Prudential Indicators for Treasury Management 
 

42. The Authority confirms compliance with its Prudential Indicators for 2022/23, which were set 
as part of the Authority’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement.  The position as at 30 
June 2022 for the Prudential Indicators is shown in Annex 3. 

 

Training 
 
43. The Treasury Management Team continue to keep up to date with the latest developments 

and attend external workshops and conferences to maintain their knowledge and awareness 

of current issues where relevant 

 
Financial Implications 

 

44. Interest payable and receivable in relation to Treasury Management activities are included 
within the overall Strategic Measures budget.  In house interest receivable for 2022/23 is 
currently forecast to be £4.80m, which is £3.26m above the £1.54m budget. An estimated 

£2.2m of this will be applied to Developer Contributions. As at 30 September 2022, £2.14m 
of the £4.80 interest receivable has been realised. 

 

Page 46



 

7 

45. Dividends payable from external funds in 2022/23 are forecast as £3.81m, which is in line with 
budget. 

 
46. Interest payable is currently forecast to be £13.81m, which is £0.58m below the budgeted 

figure of £14.39m, due to £46m of new external borrowing not required during the year.  
 

47. The Business Management & Monitoring Report to Cabinet in November 2022 notes that the 

net impact of the additional interest, after taking account of increases to interest payable on 
developer contributions is forecast to be £1.6m in 2022/23.   

 
Comments checked by: 
 

Lorna Baxter, Section 151 Officer, lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

 

Legal Implications 
 

48. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report save for the need for ongoing 
collaborative working between the S.151 Officer and the Monitoring Office. CIPFA guidance 

promotes the need for consultative working and collaboration between these respective roles 
to promote good organisational governance. 
 

 Comments checked by: 
 

       Kate Charlton, Interim Head of Legal, kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Sustainability Implications 
 
49. This report is not expected to have any negative impact with regards to the Council’s zero 

carbon emissions commitment by 2030. 
 

 
Contact officer: Tim Chapple – Treasury Manager  
Contact number: 07917 262935  

October 2022 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 47

mailto:lorna.baxter@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:kate.charlton@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

8 

 
 

Annex 1 
 

OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL DEBT FINANCING 2022/23 
 

Debt Profile           £m 

1.   PWLB 85%  263.38 
2.   Other Long Term Loans  15% 50.00 

3.   Sub-total External Debt  313.38 
4.   Internal Balances   0.00 
5.   Actual Debt at 31 March 2022  100% 313.38 

 
6.   Prudential Borrowing 42.62 

7.   Borrowing in Advance 0.00 
8.   Minimum Revenue Provision -10.17 
 
9. Forecast Debt at 31 March 2023 345.84 

 

Maturing Debt 

10. PWLB loans maturing during the year   -7.00 
11. PWLB loans repaid prematurely in the course of debt restructuring  0.00  
12. Total Maturing Debt  -7.00 

   

New External Borrowing 

13. PWLB Normal 0.00 
14. PWLB loans raised in the course of debt restructuring 0.00  

15. Money Market LOBO loans 0.00 
16. Total New External Borrowing   0.00 

 
Debt Profile Year End 

17. PWLB 74%  256.38 

18. Money Market loans (incl £45m LOBOs) 14% 50.00 
19. Forecast Sub-total External Debt  306.38 

20. Forecast Internal Balances  12% 39.46 
21. Forecast Debt at 31 March 2023  100% 345.84 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 48



 

9 

Line 
 
1 – 5 This is a breakdown of the Council’s debt at the beginning of the financial year (1 April 

2020).  The PWLB is a government agency operating within the Debt Management Office. 

LOBO (Lender’s Option/ Borrower’s Option) loans are long-term loans, with a maturity of 
up to 60 years, which includes a re-pricing option for the bank at predetermined time 

intervals. Internal balances include provisions, reserves, revenue balances, capital receipts 
unapplied, and excess of creditors over debtors. 

 

 
6 ‘Prudential Borrowing’ reflects Prudential Borrowing taken by the authority whereby the 

associated borrowing costs are met by savings in the revenue budget.  
 
7 ‘Borrowing in Advance’ is the amount the Council borrowed in advance to fund future capital 

finance costs. 
 

8 The amount of debt to be repaid from revenue.  The sum to be repaid annually is laid down 
in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, which stipulates that the repayments must 
equate to at least 4% of the debt outstanding at 1 April each year.   

 
9 The Council’s forecast total debt by the end of the financial year, after taking into account 

new borrowing, debt repayment and movement in funding by internal balances. 
 
10 The Council’s normal maturing PWLB debt. 

 
11 PWLB debt repaid early during the year. 
 

12 Total debt repayable during the year. 
 

13 The normal PWLB borrowing undertaken by the Council during 2022/23. 
 
14 New PWLB loans to replace debt repaid early. 

 
15 The Money Market borrowing undertaken by the Council during 2022/23 

 
16 The total external borrowing undertaken. 
 

18-22  The Council’s forecast debt profile at the end of the year. 
 

 

Page 49



 

10 

Annex 2 
 

Long-Term Debt Maturing 2022/23 

 

 
Public Works Loan Board: Loans maturing during 2022/23 
 

  

Date Amount £m Rate % 
 

31/10/2022 4.000 5.050% 

31/12/2022 1.000 6.250% 

26/03/2023 0.316 6.625% 

26/03/2023 1.684 6.625% 
Total 7.000  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 50



 

11 

Annex 3 
 

Prudential Indicators Monitoring at 30 September 2022 
 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how much 
money it can afford to borrow.  To demonstrate that the Authority has fulfilled the requirements 

of the Prudential Code the following indicators must be set and monitored each year. 
 

Authorised and Operational Limit for External Debt 
 

Actual debt levels are monitored against the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit for 

External Debt below.  The Operational Boundary is based on the Authority’s estimate of most 
likely, i.e. prudent, but not worst case scenario for external debt.  The council confirms that the 

Operational Boundary has not been breached during 2022/23. 
 
The Authorised Limit is the affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with the Local 

Government Act 2003.  It is the maximum debt that the Authority can legally owe.  The 
authorised limit provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for unusual cash 

movements.  The Authority confirms that the Authorised limit was not breached in the first half of 
2022/23. 
 

Authorised limit for External Debt   £495,000,000 
Operational Limit for External Debt   £610,000,000 

Capital Financing Requirement for year  £437,546,949 
 
 Actual 

30/09/2022 

Forecast 

31/03/2023 

Borrowing  £313,382,618 £306,382,618 

Other Long-Term Liabilities  £  17,000,000 £  17,000,000 

Total  £330,382,619 £323,382,618 

    
Interest Rate Exposures 

These indicators are set to control the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits 
on fixed and variable rate interest exposures. Fixed rate investments are borrowings are those 
where the rate of interest is fixed for the whole financial year.  Instruments that mature during the 

financial year are classed as variable rate. 
 

Fixed Interest Rate Exposure    

Fixed Interest Net Borrowing limit    £350,000,000 
Actual at 30 September 2022  -£124,117,382 
Variable Interest Rate Exposure 

Variable Interest Net Borrowing limit      £0 

Actual at 30 September 2022    -£30,040,174 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 51



 

12 

Principal Sums Invested over 365 days 

Total sums invested for more than 364 days limit £215,000,000 

Actual sums invested for more than 364 days  £  96,500,000 
  

 
 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing  

 

This indicator is set to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk.  The upper and lower 

limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing and the actual structure at 30  September 
2022, are shown below.  Time periods start on the first day of each financial year.  The maturity 
date of borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

 
Limit % Actual % 

 
Under 12 months   0 - 20  11.81 
12 – 24 months   0 - 25  3.83 

24 months – 5 years   0 - 35  16.59 
5 years to 10 years   5 - 40 24.37 

10 years + 40 - 95 43.40 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 52



 

13 

Annex 4 
 

Specified and Non Specified Investments 2022/23 

 

Specified Investments 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       

 
 
 

                                                 
4 I.e., credit rated funds which meet the definition of a collective investment scheme as defined in SI 2004 No 534 
and SI 2007 No 573. 

Investment Instrument Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Debt Management Agency 

Deposit Facility 

N/A In-house and 

Fund Managers 

Term Deposits – UK 

Government 

N/A In-house 

Term Deposits – other Local 

Authorities  
 

N/A In-house 

Term Deposits – Banks and 
Building Societies 

Short-term F1, Long-term 
BBB+, 

Minimum Sovereign Rating 
AA+ 

In-house and 
Fund Managers 

Certificates of Deposit issued 
by Banks and Building 

Societies 

A1 or P1 In-house on a 
buy and hold 

basis and Fund 
Managers 

Money Market Funds  AAA In-house and 

Fund Managers 

Other Money Market Funds 

and Collective Investment 
Schemes4 

Minimum equivalent credit 

rating of A+. These funds 
do not have short-term or 
support ratings. 

In-house and 

Fund Managers 

UK Government Gilts N/A In-house on a 

buy and hold 
basis and Fund 

Managers 

Treasury Bills N/A In-house and 
Fund Managers 

Reverse Repurchase 

Agreements - maturity under 
1 year from arrangement and 

counterparty is of high credit 
quality (not collateral) 

Long Term Counterparty 

Rating A- 
 

In-house and 

Fund Managers 

Covered Bonds – maturity 
under 1 year from 

arrangement 

Minimum issue rating of A-  In-house and 
Fund Managers 

Page 53



 

14 

Non-Specified Investments 
 

Investment 
Instrument 

Minimum 
Credit 

Criteria 

Use Max % of 
total 

Investments 

Max 
Maturity 
Period 

Term Deposits – other 
Local Authorities 
(maturities in excess of 

1 year) 

N/A In-house 50% 3 years 

Term Deposits – Banks 
and Building Societies 

(maturities in excess of 
1 year) 

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA- 

 

In-house 
and Fund 

Managers 

50% in-
house; 

 
100% 

External 
Funds 

3 years 

Structured Products 
(e.g. Callable deposits, 

range accruals, 
snowballs, escalators 

etc.) 

Short-term F1+, 
Long-term AA- 

 
 

 
 
 

In-house 
and Fund 

Managers 

50% in-
house; 

 
100% 

External 
Funds 

3 years 

UK Government Gilts 

with maturities in excess 
of 1 year 

N/A In-house 

and Fund 
Managers 

50% in-

house;  
 

100% 
External 
Funds 

5 years in-

house, 10 
years fund 

managers 

Bonds issued by 

Multilateral 
Development Banks 

AAA In-house 

and Fund 
Managers 

50% in-

house; 
 

100% 
External 
Fund 

25 years 

Bonds issued by a 

financial institution 
which is guaranteed by 

the UK Government 

AA In-house 

and Fund 
Managers 

50% in-

house; 100% 
External 

Fund 

5 years in-

house  

Collective Investment 
Schemes5 but which are 

not credit rated 

N/A In-house 
and Fund 

Managers 

50% In-
house; 100% 

External 
Funds 

Pooled 
Funds do 

not have a 
defined 
maturity 

date 

                                                 
5 Pooled funds which meet the definition of a collective investment scheme as defined in SI 2004 No 534 and SI 
2007 No 573. 

Page 54



 

15 

Sovereign Bond Issues AAA In-house 
on a buy 
and hold 

basis. 
Fund 

Managers 

50% in-
house;  
100% 

External 
Funds  

5 year in-
house, 30 
years fund 

managers 

Reverse Repurchase 
Agreements - maturity in 

excess of 1 year, or/and 
counterparty not of high 
credit quality. 

Minimum long 
term rating of A- 

In-house 
and Fund 

Managers 

50% in-
house;  

100% 
External 
Funds 

3 years  

Covered Bonds  AAA In-house 

and Fund 
Managers 

50% in-

house;  
100% 

External 
Funds 

20 years 

Registered Providers As agreed by 
TMST in 

consultation 
with the Leader 

and the Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance 

In-house 50% In-house 5 years 

     

 
The maximum limits for in-house investments apply at the time of arrangement. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 55



 

16 

Annex 5 
External Backdrop Provided by Link Treasury Services 

 

 The second quarter of 2022/23 saw:  

- GDP revised upwards in Q1 2022/23 to +0.2% q/q from -0.1%, which means the UK 
economy has avoided recession for the time being; 

- Signs of economic activity losing momentum as production fell due to rising energy prices;  

- CPI inflation ease to 9.9% y/y in August, having been 9.0% in April, but domestic price 
pressures showing little sign of abating in the near-term;  

- The unemployment rate fall to a 48-year low of 3.6% due to a large shortfall in labour 
supply; 

- Bank Rate rise by 100bps over the quarter, taking Bank Rate to 2.25% with further rises 
to come;  

- Gilt yields surge and sterling fall following the “fiscal event” of the new Prime Minister and 
Chancellor on 23rd September. 

 The UK economy grew by 0.2% q/q in Q1 2022/23, though revisions to historic data left it below 

pre-pandemic levels. 

 There are signs of higher energy prices creating more persistent downward effects in economic 

activity. Both industrial production (-0.3% m/m) and construction output (-0.8% m/m) fell in July 
2022 for a second month in a row. Although some of this was probably due to the heat wave 

at the time, manufacturing output fell in some of the most energy intensive sectors (e.g., 
chemicals), pointing to signs of higher energy prices weighing on production. With the drag on 
real activity from high inflation having grown in recent months, GDP is at risk of contracting 

through the autumn and winter months.  

 The fall in the composite PMI from 49.6 in August to a 20-month low preliminary reading of 

48.4 in September points to a fall in GDP of around 0.2% q/q in Q3 and consumer confidence 
is at a record low. Retail sales volumes fell by 1.6% m/m in August, which was the ninth fall in 
10 months. That left sales volumes in August just 0.5% above their pre-Covid level and 3.3% 

below their level at the start of the year. There are also signs that households are spending 
their excess savings in response to high prices. Indeed, cash in households’ bank accounts 

rose by £3.2bn in August, which was below the £3.9bn rise in July and much smaller than the 
2019 average monthly rate of £4.6bn.  

 The labour market remained exceptionally tight. Data for July and August provided further 

evidence that the weaker economy is leading to a cooling in labour demand. Labour Force 
Survey (LFS) employment rose by 40,000 in the three months to July (the smallest rise since 

February). But a renewed rise in inactivity of 154,000 over the same period meant that the 
unemployment rate fell from 3.8% in June to a new 48-year low of 3.6%. The single-month 
data showed that inactivity rose by 354,000 in July itself and there are now 904,000 more 

inactive people aged 16+ compared to before the pandemic in February 2020. The number of 
vacancies has started to level off from recent record highs but there have been few signs of a 

slowing in the upward momentum on wage growth. Indeed, in July, the 3my/y rate of average 
earnings growth rose from 5.2% in June to 5.5%. 

 CPI inflation eased from 10.1% in July to 9.9% in August, though inflation has not peaked yet. 

The easing in August was mainly due to a decline in fuel prices reducing fuel inflation from 
43.7% to 32.1%. And with the oil price now just below $90pb, we would expect to see fuel 

prices fall further in the coming months.  

Page 56



 

17 

 However, utility price inflation is expected to add 0.7% to CPI inflation in October when the 
Ofgem unit price cap increases to, typically, £2,500 per household (prior to any benefit 

payments). But, as the government has frozen utility prices at that level for two years, energy 
price inflation will fall sharply after October and have a big downward influence on CPI inflation.  

 Nonetheless, the rise in services CPI inflation from 5.7% y/y in July to a 30-year high of 5.9% 
y/y in August suggests that domestic price pressures are showing little sign of abating. A lot of 

that is being driven by the tight labour market and strong wage growth. CPI inflation is expected 
to peak close to 10.4% in November and, with the supply of workers set to remain unusually 
low, the tight labour market will keep underlying inflationary pressures strong until early next 

year. 

 During H1 2022, there has been a change of both Prime Minister and Chancellor.  The new 

team (Liz Truss and Kwasi Kwarteng) have made a step change in government policy. The 
government’s huge fiscal loosening from its proposed significant tax cuts will add to existing 
domestic inflationary pressures and will potentially leave a legacy of higher interest rates and 

public debt. Whilst the government’s utility price freeze, which could cost up to £150bn (5.7% 
of GDP) over 2 years, will reduce peak inflation from 14.5% in January next year to 10.4% in 

November this year, the long list of tax measures announced at the “fiscal event” adds up to a 
loosening in fiscal policy relative to the previous government’s plans of £44.8bn (1.8% of GDP) 
by 2026/27. These included the reversal of April’s national insurance tax on 6th November, the 

cut in the basic rate of income tax from 20p to 19p in April 2023, the cancellation of next April’s 
corporation tax rise, the cut to stamp duty and the removal of the 45p tax rate, although the 

45p tax rate cut announcement has already been reversed.  

 Fears that the government has no fiscal anchor on the back of these announcements has 
meant that the pound has weakened again, adding further upward pressure to interest rates. 

Whilst the pound fell to a record low of $1.035 on the Monday following the government’s “fiscal 
event”, it has since recovered to around $1.12. That is due to hopes that the Bank of England 

will deliver a very big rise in interest rates at the policy meeting on 3rd November and the 
government will lay out a credible medium-term plan in the near term. This was originally 
expected as part of the fiscal statement on 23rd November but has subsequently been moved 

forward to an expected release date in October.  Nevertheless, with concerns over a global 
recession growing, there are downside risks to the pound.  

 The MPC has now increased interest rates seven times in as many meetings in 2022 and has 
raised rates to their highest level since the Global Financial Crisis. Even so, coming after the 

Fed and ECB raised rates by 75 basis points (bps) in their most recent meetings, the Bank of 
England’s latest 50 basis points hike looks relatively dovish. However, the UK’s status as a 
large importer of commodities, which have jumped in price, means that households in the UK 

are now facing a much larger squeeze on their real incomes.  

 Since the fiscal event on 23rd September, we now expect the Monetary Policy Committee 

(MPC) to increase interest rates further and faster, from 2.25% currently to a peak of 5.00% in 
February 2023. The combination of the government’s fiscal loosening, the tight labour market 
and sticky inflation expectations means we expect the MPC to raise interest rates by 100bps 

at the policy meetings in November (to 3.25%) and 75 basis points in December (to 4%) 
followed by further 50 basis point hikes in February and March (to 5.00%).  Market expectations 

for what the MPC will do are volatile. If Bank Rate climbs to these levels the housing market 
looks very vulnerable, which is one reason why the peak in our forecast is lower than the peak 
of 5.50% - 5.75% priced into the financial markets at present.  

 Throughout 2022/23, gilt yields have been on an upward trend.  They were initially caught up 
in the global surge in bond yields triggered by the surprisingly strong rise in CPI inflation in the 

Page 57



 

18 

US in May. The rises in two-year gilt yields (to a peak of 2.37% on 21st June) and 10-year 
yields (to a peak of 2.62%) took them to their highest level since 2008 and 2014 respectively. 

However, the upward trend was exceptionally sharply at the end of September as investors 
demanded a higher risk premium and expected faster and higher interest rate rises to offset 

the government’s extraordinary fiscal stimulus plans. The 30-year gilt yield rose from 3.60% to 
5.10% following the “fiscal event”, which threatened financial stability by forcing pension funds 
to sell assets into a falling market to meet cash collateral requirements. In response, the Bank 

did two things. First, it postponed its plans to start selling some of its quantitative easing (QE) 
gilt holdings until 31st October. Second, it committed to buy up to £65bn of long-term gilts to 

“restore orderly market conditions” until 14th October. In other words, the Bank is restarting 
QE, although for financial stability reasons rather than monetary policy reasons.  

 Since the Bank’s announcement on 28th September, the 30-year gilt yield has fallen back from 

5.10% to 3.83%. The 2-year gilt yield dropped from 4.70% to 4.30% and the 10-year yield fell 
back from 4.55% to 4.09%.  

 There is a possibility that the Bank continues with QE at the long-end beyond 14th October or 
it decides to delay quantitative tightening beyond 31st October, even as it raises interest rates. 

So far at least, investors seem to have taken the Bank at its word that this is not a change in 
the direction of monetary policy nor a step towards monetary financing of the government’s 
deficit. But instead, that it is a temporary intervention with financial stability in mind.  

 After a shaky start to the year, the S&P 500 and FTSE 100 climbed in the first half of Q2 
2022/23 before falling to their lowest levels since November 2020 and July 2021 respectively. 

The S&P 500 is 7.2% below its level at the start of the quarter, whilst the FTSE 100 is 5.2% 
below it as the fall in the pound has boosted the value of overseas earnings in the index. The 
decline has, in part, been driven by the rise in global real yields and the resulting downward 

pressure on equity valuations as well as concerns over economic growth leading to a 
deterioration in investor risk appetite.   
 

Page 58



Guidance is given in square brackets under each of the headings below.  

Headings which are discretionary are also in square brackets. Please delete as 
you go along and remove heading and sections not needed. 
 

Divisions Affected – N/A  

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee  

DATE 23rd November 2022 

 

Community Safety Services-  

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Statement of Assurance 2021/22 
 

Report by DCFO Jo Bowcock 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to  

 

Consider and approve the Community Safety Services, Statement of Assurance 
2021/22 for publication. This document is not recommending any policy 

decision, strategy or project involving major change.  

Executive Summary 

 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 2018 sets out a 
requirement for all fire and rescue authorities to provide annual assurance on 

financial, governance and operational matters through publishing an Annual 
Statement of Assurance. Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Services, Annual 
Statement of Assurance confirms that we are demonstrating due regard to the 

requirements included in the framework and the expectations set out in the 
authorities’ risk management plans. It covers activities across the Service 

including Fire and Rescue response, Road Safety, Emergency Planning, and 
Trading Standards.  

Exempt Information 

 
2. No areas of exemption requested. Content will be public facing and open to 

public scrutiny. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 12



About the Community Safety Services, Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, Statement of Assurance 2021/22 

Purpose  

 
 

3. Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Authority is the designated Fire and Rescue 
Authority for the County of Oxfordshire. It has a primary responsibility to protect 

the community, reduce harm and save lives through prevention, protection and 
response. The Chief Fire Officer and the Cabinet Member for Community 
Services and Safety ensure the Council meets its legal and operational 

responsibilities to provide an effective fire and rescue service for Oxfordshire’s 
communities. 

 
4. The Community Safety Services, Statement of Assurance is published in line 

with statutory reporting requirements. It provides assurance against the four 

strategic areas of protection, prevention, response and people outlined as in the 
2021-22 Fire and Rescue, Service Delivery Plan.  

 
5. The Statement of Assurance supports principles of good governance by 

ensuring transparency, regular reporting and public accountability across the 

Services strategic priorities. Information has been presented with “readability” 
and engagement in mind and will be available online.  

 

6. The Statement of Assurance signposts readers to further information where 
appropriate. For example, the CSS Directorates Annual Report 2021/22 which 

is submitted to this Committee for approval as a separate document, includes a 
detailed breakdown of the types and numbers of incidents fire crews attended. 
Both documents support assurance and good governance enabling elected 

members and communities to scrutinise how outcomes are being achieved 
efficiently, effectively and in accordance with statutory requirements 

 
7. The Statement of Assurance also includes references to the Home Office led 

2021/21 HMICFRS inspection report. This report provides independent 

assurance on how Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service achieved a “good” 
rating across all three key inspection areas of effectiveness, efficiency and how 

we look after our people.  Inspectors were pleased with the performance of 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service in keeping people safe and secure from 
fires and other risks. 

 

[Corporate Policies and Priorities] 

 
The Statement of Assurance is aligned to the Councils Vision, Values, Objectives and 

Strategic Priorities. The Directorates strategic priorities which the statement assures 
against are highlighted within the Service delivery Plan 2021-2022 “Delivering Thriving 
Communities” and include:  

 

 Developing thriving communities for everyone in Oxfordshire 

Page 60

https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf


 Providing outstanding community focussed services that are inclusive and 
respected  

 Being forward thinking, agile, dynamic, and resilient 

 

Financial Implications 

 
8. There are no new or additional financial implications arising from the Statement 

of Assurance.  
 

Comments checked by: 

 
Thomas James 

Finance Business Partner  
Thomas.james@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 

 

There are no new or additional legal implications arising from this report.  
 

Staff Implications 

 
9. There are no new or additional resourcing implications. Publication will be 

managed though existing in-house capacity and OCC systems. 
  

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
10. There are no additional EDI implications. The document has been produced 

with accessibility and readability in mind. The Community Safety Services 
directorate aims to ensure all areas of Service delivery are considered within a 

risk based framework targeting those most vulnerable from harm. All policies, 
procedures and working practices are managed through Equality Impact 
assessments.  

Sustainability Implications 

 

11. There are no sustainability implications within this proposal. Consideration has 
been given to limit environmental impact from printing and the publication will 
be made easily available as an online publication.  

Risk Management 

 

12. The CSS’s activities are managed through robust national and local risk 
assessment frameworks. These include utilising and aligning with National Fire 
Chiefs Council guidance and National Fire Standards to manage operational 

and strategic risks. The Service also maintains a Directorate risk register and 

Page 61

mailto:Thomas.james@oxfordshire.gov.uk


acts as the local authorities lead agency in business continuity, resilience, and 
emergency planning. The Service also Chairs the LRF CBRN (Chemical 
Biological Radioactive and Nuclear) group and engages in regular 

interoperability training with Category 1 and 2 responders. This report is not 
recommending any policy decision, strategy or project involving major change  

that would impact on the existing risk management strategy. 

Consultations 

 

13. There were no specific consultation requirements to producing the Community 
Safety Services, Statement of Assurance. 

 
 
NAME    Rob MacDougall, Director of Community Safety and Chief 

    Fire Officer 
 

Annex: Community Safety Service - Statement of Assurance 2021-
22 VR 03-11-2022.docx 

 

Background papers: Nil 
 

[Other Documents:]  

 Community Safety Services, Annual Report 2021-22 

 2021-22 Service Delivery Plan, Community Safety 

Services 

 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service, Community Risk 

Management Plan, 2022-26 

 HMICFRS Inspection Report 2021/22, Oxfordshire Fire 

and Rescue Service, Effectiveness efficiency and people. 
 
Contact Officer: Faisal Atcha, Station Manager 

Organisational Risk and Assurance Officer, Community 
Safety Services, Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Telephone: 07766496588 
 Faisal.atcha@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

November 2022 

Page 62

https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/Ebt22_pMaUFMmhe9oJLudTEB8PBGXph5YsaMzJ-xt2_DvA?e=ZugkFp
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/Ebt22_pMaUFMmhe9oJLudTEB8PBGXph5YsaMzJ-xt2_DvA?e=ZugkFp
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/EUJ-lsfik_JBnT_EWnjkfCsBeTXy63faaD0c8nv-Pv4iBQ?e=AHJ1IH
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf


 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service’s 
Statement of Assurance 2021-22 
 

This important document outlines the way we meet our statutory duties. 
 
You will find information on the following areas  

 

 What is a Statement of Assurance? 

 Governance  
 Finance  
 Operational activity 

 Community Risk Management Plan 2022/26 
 HMICFRS Inspection Report 2021/22 

 Prevention work 
 Fire Protection activity 
 Emergency Response  

 Operational Learning, Training and Development 
 National Learning 

 National Operational Guidance 
 National and Local Risk Assessments 
 Technology and Innovation 

 National Fire Standards 
 Prevent 
 Health and Safety 

 Employee Relations and Resource  
 Annual Report 2021/22 

 Legislative and Constitutional frameworks – further information 
 

Introduction 
 
Welcome to Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service’s Statement of Assurance for 2021 to 

2022. As the Cabinet Member and Chief Fire Officer for Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, we are pleased to present this statement of assurance for our local communities 

outlining how we meet the statutory duties of the Fire and Rescue Services Act, Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order, Civil Contingencies Act and the Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England. 

 
 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby, Cabinet Member for Community Safety Services 

 
Rob MacDougall, Director of Community Safety and Chief Fire Officer 

 
 

Page 63



What is a Statement of Assurance? 
 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 2018 sets out a requirement for all 
fire and rescue authorities to provide annual assurance on financial, governance and 

operational matters through publishing an Annual Statement of Assurance. Oxfordshire 
Fire and Rescue Services Annual Statement of Assurance confirms that we are 

demonstrating due regard to the requirements included in the framework and the 
expectations set out in the authorities’ risk management plans. The Service also produces 
a separate Annual Report for 2021/22 detailing performance in all areas of service delivery.  

 
You can read a copy of the Annual Report 2021/22 here.  

 

Governance 
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Authority is the designated Fire and Rescue Authority for the 
County of Oxfordshire. It has a primary responsibility to protect the community, reduce 

harm and save lives through prevention, protection and response. The Chief Fire Officer 
and the Cabinet Member for Community Services and Safety ensure the Council meets its 

legal and operational responsibilities to provide an effective fire and rescue service for 
Oxfordshire’s communities.  
 

OFRS governance is carefully managed through regularly reviewed policies, procedures 
and assurance systems managed by monitoring Officers and Senior Leadership Officers. 
Effective systems of internal control are assured through a corporate governance 

framework. The Service adheres to the principles of the CIPFA / SOLACE framework 
“Delivering Good Governance in Local Government”. Our Annual Governance statement 

demonstrates that we have fulfilled its obligations under this framework.  
 
Further information can be found in our Annual Governance Statement, which is included 

in our Statement of Accounts publication. A link to this information is included at the end 
of this document.  

 

Finance 
 
Our budget for 2021-2022 
 

The total expenditure for Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service including corporate core 
costs was £27.154 million between 2021/22. This is equivalent to just 10.2p a day per 

person in Oxfordshire or £37.43 p/annum. The Services minimises its corporate running 
costs wherever possible through sharing business support functions with Oxfordshire 
County Council  

 
Financial data is taken from the Local Authority Revenue Expenditure and Financing 2021-

22, Provisional Outturn return. Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service (OFRS) are an 
integral part of Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) who provide the Statement of Accounts, 
audit reports and Pay Policy statement. A summary of the Auditors’ Report and findings 

can be found in the Annual Audit letter. 
 

Page 64

https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/_layouts/15/onedrive.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fvr637230%5Foxfordshire%5Fgov%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FStatement%20of%20Assurance%2FSA%20data%202021%2D22%20%2D%20Annual%20report%2F22%2D0238%20FRS%20CSS%20annual%20report%202022%2Dv3%2Epdf&parent=%2Fpersonal%2Fvr637230%5Foxfordshire%5Fgov%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FStatement%20of%20Assurance%2FSA%20data%202021%2D22%20%2D%20Annual%20report&ga=1
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/government-oxfordshire/oxfordshire-county-council/corporate-governance/good-corporate-governance
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/government-oxfordshire/oxfordshire-county-council/corporate-governance/good-corporate-governance
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/council-tax-and-finance-audit-and-accounts/UnauditedStatementofAccounts2020-21.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/about-council/PayPolicyStatement.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/council-tax-and-finance/annual-accounts-and-audit
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/plans-performance-policy/AuditLetter2022.pdf


 

Annual report 2021/22 
 

As part of our statutory reporting requirements, the Services produces a detailed Annual 

Report on performance across all areas of Service Delivery. This Report highlights where 
we have done well, identify new incidents trends and explore areas for improvement. The 

Annual Report also helps us decide where to focus our efforts and resources for the future. 
This Report is also essential to our approach with integrating risk management. You can 
read a copy of the 2021/22, Annual Report here.  

Operational 
 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service functions within a clearly defined statutory and 
policy framework. We address these core functions through our Community Risk 

Management Plan which identifies and assesses foreseeable fire and rescue related 
risks that could affect our community. You can find out more about legislative duties that 
govern Fire and Rescue Services by following the hyperlinks at the end of this document.  

Community Risk Management Plan 2022/26 (CRMP) 
 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service has produced a detailed CRMP outlining how we will 
reduce risk from fire and other emergencies from 2022 to 2026. The plan was published 
following extensive consultation and research to ensure our response, prevention, 

protection priorities take into account both current and future risks.  Our CRMP aligns 
directly with the County Council’s vision and Corporate objectives highlighting how we will 

work with statutory agencies, businesses and communities to reduce risk from fire and 
other emergencies.  The plan also outlines how we will carry out our statutory responsibility 
to support national emergencies in other parts of the UK. 

 
You can read a copy of the CRMP 2022-26 here 

 

HMICFRS Inspection Report 2021/22 
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 
 
The HMICFRS 2021/22 inspection report is an important independent examination of 

performance across Oxfordshire FRS. The Service were really pleased to have been 
awarded a “good” rating in the four inspection areas covering effectiveness, efficiency and 

how we look after our people.  HMICFRS inspectors found that: 
 

 The Services understanding of risk and demand was effective and supported its 

prevention and protection activities.  

 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service was financially stable and well supported by 

the County Council and has a very positive culture that actively promotes equality, 
diversity, and inclusion  

 Support for health and wellbeing was excellent and the Service was working hard 
to listen to staff  

 

You can read Oxfordshire Fire and Rescues HMICFRS Inspection 2021/22 report here. 

Page 65

https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/_layouts/15/onedrive.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fvr637230%5Foxfordshire%5Fgov%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FStatement%20of%20Assurance%2FSA%20data%202021%2D22%20%2D%20Annual%20report%2F22%2D0238%20FRS%20CSS%20annual%20report%202022%2Dv3%2Epdf&parent=%2Fpersonal%2Fvr637230%5Foxfordshire%5Fgov%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FStatement%20of%20Assurance%2FSA%20data%202021%2D22%20%2D%20Annual%20report&ga=1
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/fire-and-public-safety/fire-and-rescue-service/about-oxfordshire-fire-and-rescue-service/community-risk-management-plan
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/frs-assessment/frs-2021/oxfordshire/


 

Prevention Activity  
 
The Prevention Team delivers education, advice and support to help communities reduce 

fires and accidents from happening in the first place. In 2021/22, prevention services 
quickly adapted to Covid-19 related restrictions through significantly increasing social 

media campaigning to deliver safety advice. As restrictions eased, the Service has 
continued with developing both in person and digital initiatives to reach the widest 
audiences possible.  

 

Safeguarding 
 
Safeguarding continues to remain a priority for Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service. We  

have continued to embed regular training and learning at all levels of the organisation. The 
Service collaborates with our many partners in health, social care and voluntary services 
to identify and support the most vulnerable members of the community. We also 

participated in Oxfordshire’s Annual Safeguarding Board’s, peer review assessment and 
were pleased to have achieved a positive rating across each of the standards set by the 

Board. A copy of their 2021/22 annual report is available here. 

 
Fire Protection Activity 
 

Fire Protection activities quickly adapted to pandemic restrictions utilising technological 

solutions to support business fire safety.  As restrictions lifted we saw a return to an active 

and directive programme of fire safety inspections that prioritised the highest risk premises 

using a comprehensive risk and intelligence led Inspection Programme. Key achievements 

between 2021/22 included:  

 

 The Building Control Liaison team responding to 100% of building consultations within 

the statutory 15-day time limit.  
 

 The Primary Authority team doubled the number of contracted hours to provide 

strategic-level fire safety precautions to housing associations occupied by the most 
vulnerable in the community. 

 

 The Protection Team invested in extensive engagement with businesses to ensure 

the implications of recent legislation (Fire Safety Act 2021) are properly understood.  

Emergency Response  
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue adapted to Covid-19 related challenges through 2021 and 
2022 to continue to deliver emergency response services. HMICFRS inspectors 

recognised that the Service’s response plan is linked to the risks identified in its CRMP. 
Our fire engines, response staff and working patterns enable the Service to respond 

flexibly to fires and other emergencies. Initiatives to improve and increase capacity to more 
effectively resource appliances have been introduced for 2022-23.   

Page 66



Operational Learning, Training and Development  

 

Oxfordshire FRS places great importance on operational staff being highly skilled and 
knowledgeable, enabling them to respond to different types of emergencies at any time.  

HMICFRS Inspectors were assured to find the Services Training Team regularly updated 
its understanding of staff’s skills and risk-critical safety capabilities. It found that local 
managers could easily review staff competence to plan training needs through station-

based training and exercises.  
 

Our centralised training teams also ensured safety critical areas of operational training 
continued to be assessed and maintained to national standards through the Covid-19 
related restrictions in 2021-22. We were pleased to note that the Services internal teaching 

standards were praised following an assurance process led by Abingdon and Witney 
College. The Service was also recognised for the Driver Instructor Team’s, national 

contribution in developing the new Emergency Response Driving Standards.  
 
The Service ensures it maintains an overview of national events and embeds National 

Operational Guidance and National Operational Learning (NOL) into all aspects of training 
and development. For example, the Grenfell Tower Inquiry continues to provide important 

considerations for fire and rescue services across the UK. OFRS collaborate with TVFCS 
and Thames Valley, Response and Protection Teams to help cascade new learning to 
prevent tragedies like this re-occurring. All our learning is assured and tested across 

training, fire safety, fire prevention and Local Resilience Forum functions. The Team has 
also established a clear action plan to address areas of improvement identified in the 

2021/22 HMICFRS inspection report. 

National Operational Guidance 
 

National Operational Guidance provides industry good practice for fire and rescue services 
within the UK to develop local policies and procedures. OFRS worked through 2021-22 to 

align our hazard, risk and training information with nationally agreed operational standards. 
The Service also carried out an assessment of over 1900 incident types using a recognised 

‘Strategic Gap Analysis’ model to assure policies and procedures complied with national 
best practice. The Services South East, Thames Valley collaborative partnership has led 
to improvements with incident preparedness and cross border response.  

 

National Fire Standards  
 
The National Fire Standards are a set of professional expectations for fire and rescue 
services in England. The standards establish what good practice looks like and are a 

benchmark that HMICFRS Inspectors use to measure performance against. Embedding 
the Fire Standards remain a core part of the Services organisational strategy. It is our 

intention to not only meet the new standards but exceed them. You can read more about 
the National Fire Standards by clicking on the highlighted link. 
 

National and Local Risk Assessments 
 

Page 67

https://www.ukfrs.com/fire-standards


The National and Local Risk Assessment considers severe weather events, pandemics, 
and major industrial accidents that could seriously impact on significant parts of the UK. 

This assessment is considered alongside our own Community Risk Registers to help the 
Service and Local Resilience Forum (LRF’s) plan for major events in our County.  

 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service supports emergency planning and business 
continuity from major events through its membership of the Risk Group and by integrating 

with the LRF and Oxfordshire County Council response strategy. The Service also Chairs 
the LRF CBRN (Chemical Biological Radioactive and Nuclear) group and engages in 

regular interoperability training with Category 1 and 2 responders. 

Technology and Innovation 
 
OFRS constantly assesses equipment and new technological solutions with neighbouring 
Services to equip staff with the ability to respond to incidents safely and effectively. The 

collaborative purchasing of PPE and Breathing Apparatus sets ensured best value for both 
our firefighters and communities. In 2021/22, the Service introduced fully portable, internet 

enabled tablets allowing crews to refer vulnerable people for services and access risk 
information on high-risk premises.  

Risk Information 
 
A revised site specific risk information system with improved mapping and supporting data 

has significantly enhanced crews ability to quickly access safety critical hazard information 
on all medium and high risk sites. This information is easily available to operational Crews 
attending incidents through Mobile Data Terminals installed in appliances or through 

portable devices. 

Collaborative arrangements  
 

HMICFRS Inspectors were pleased to discover that the Service met its statutory duties to 

collaborate and routinely consider opportunities with other emergency responders. The 
Services approach to joint working was recognised as “good” and alignined with the 
priorities in the CRMP. Building partnerships across blue light and other Service providers 

has realised wide area benefits ranging from increased procurement and purchasing 
efficiencies to standardising emergency response across County borders. 

 
Collaboration in 2021/22 extended to OFRS leading the Council’s response to the Afghan 
repatriation crisis and supporting the South-Central, Ambulance Service with emergency 

response drivers during the pandemic. Memorandums of understanding (MOUs) for 
support exist with multiple agencies including the Thames Valley Police, South Central 

Ambulance Service and the Defence Fire and Rescue Service. 

Prevent  
 

The Channel Panel is an early intervention programme chaired by Oxfordshire’s, Chief 
Fire Officer to support people who are at risk of radicalisation. The programme provides 

practical support tailored to individual needs through helping them make positive choices 
about their lives. The Prevent scheme utilises a multi-agency safeguarding framework set 
up between local authorities to collaborate on issues related to reducing radicalisation. The 

Page 68



Panel was found to have delivered against every area following a Home Office assessment 
in 2021/22. 

Health and Safety  
 
Health and Safety (H&S) continues to underpin all aspects of Oxfordshire FRS work. Our 
intention is to embed a culture where the safety of staff and public always come first. In 

2021/22, the Health, Safety and Welfare Team worked through the pandemic to address 
significant challenges around cross infection by introducing enhanced PPE, hygiene 
control and training, high profile signage and hybrid working solutions. By continually 

reviewing Covid-19 risk assessments and control measures, the H&S Team enabled the 
Service to return to business as usual, quickly and safely. 

 
The Service also played an important role in supporting the collaborative South East 
Region H&S Auditing programme to help implement the latest H&S management model of 

governance. We have also improved the ability of managers to efficiently record, manage 
and investigate safety related events through an improved digital H&S reporting platform. 

Employee Relations and Resources  
 

In 2021, the Team underwent an Oxfordshire County Council Audit process that identified 
good practice across many areas. HMICFRS Inspectors also found that support for health 
and wellbeing was excellent and the Service was working hard to listen to staff. Areas of 

improvement that were identified, such as those related to new managers understanding 
of pay were addressed through an improved induction process.  

 
 
 

 

Further information 

Legislative frameworks that govern Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Services  
 
Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue functions within a clearly defined statutory and policy  
framework. The key documents setting this out are:  

 
• The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 

• The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
• The Fire and Rescue Services (Emergencies) (England) Order 2007 

• The Localism Act 2011  
• The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

 

Further reading 
 

The Council Constitution  
Annual Accounts and Audit 

Page 69

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/735/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-and-rescue-national-framework-for-england--2
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/government-oxfordshire/oxfordshire-county-council/corporate-governance/council-constitution
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/about-your-council/council-tax-and-finance/annual-accounts-and-audit


This page is intentionally left blank



Guidance is given in square brackets under each of the headings below.  

Headings which are discretionary are also in square brackets. Please delete as 
you go along and remove heading and sections not needed. 
 

Divisions Affected – N/A  

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee  

DATE 23rd November 2022 
 

Community Safety Services  

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service - Annual Report 2021/22 
 

Report by DCFO Jo Bowcock 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to  

 
Consider and approve the Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021/22 

for publication. This report is not recommending any policy decision, strategy 
or project involving major change.  

Executive Summary 

 
The Community Safety Services, Annual Report is a public facing document 

detailing performance across the directorate’s strategic priorities between 2021 
and 2022. The report details how Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service met its 

responsibilities to protect communities, reduce harm and save lives. It covers 
activities across the Service including Fire and Rescue response, Road Safety, 
Emergency Planning, Gypsy and Traveller Services and Trading Standards.  

Exempt Information 

 

2. No areas of exemption requested. Content will be public facing and open to 
public scrutiny. 

About the Community Safety Services, Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, Annual Report 2021/22 

Purpose  

 
3. The Community Safety Services, Annual Report is published in line with 

statutory reporting requirements. The document enables communities to easily 
see what we have achieved between 2021 and 2021 across our four strategic 
priority areas of protection, prevention, response and people.  The report is a 

Page 71

Agenda Item 13



measure of “what we said we would do” and “what we achieved” alongside our 
strategic aspirations outlined in the 2021-22 Fire and Rescue, Service Delivery 
Plan.  

 
4. The Report supports principles of good governance by ensuring transparency, 

regular reporting and public accountability across the Services strategic 
priorities. It includes references to new areas of work and where we aim to 
improve. Information has been presented with “readability” and engagement in 

mind and will be available online 
 

5. This report will be published alongside the CSS Directorates annual Statement 
of Assurance 2021/22 which is submitted to this committee for approval as a 
separate document. Both documents support assurance and good governance 

enabling elected members and the public to scrutinise how outcomes are being 
achieved efficiently, effectively and in accordance with statutory requirements 

 
 
6. The Annual Report will also complement the independent, Home Office led 

2021/21 HMICFRS inspection report. This document details how Oxfordshire 
Fire and Rescue Service achieved a “good” rating across all three inspection 

areas of effectiveness, efficiency and how we look after our people.  Inspectors 
were pleased with the performance of Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service in 
keeping people safe and secure from fires and other risks. 

 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 
7. The report is clearly aligned to the Councils Vision, Values, Objectives and 

Strategic Priorities. This is evidenced in the priorities established within the 

Service delivery Plan 2021-2022 “Delivering Thriving Communities”.  
 

The Annual Report 2021/22 outlines the Services purpose to protect our 
communities, reduce harm and save lives through: 

 

 Developing thriving communities for everyone in Oxfordshire 

 Providing outstanding community focussed services that are inclusive and 

respected  

 Being forward thinking, agile, dynamic, and resilient 

 

Financial Implications 

 

8. There are no new or additional financial implications arising from this report. 
The document focusses on reporting historical performance and activities only. 

 
 

Legal Implications 

 

Page 72

https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf


There are no new or additional legal implications arising from this report. The 
document focusses on reporting historical performance and activities only. 
 

 

Staff Implications 

 
9. There are no new or additional resourcing implications. Publication will be 

managed though existing in-house capacity and OCC systems. 

  

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 
10. There are no additional EDI implications. The document has been produced 

with accessibility and readability in mind. Community Safety Services aims to 

ensure all areas of Service delivery are considered within a risk based 
framework targeting those most vulnerable from harm. All policies, procedures 

and working practices are managed through Equality Impact assessments.  

Sustainability Implications 

 
11. There are no sustainability implications within this proposal. Consideration has 

been given to limit environmental impact from printing and the publication will 

be made easily available as an online publication.  

Risk Management 

 
12. The CSS’s activities are managed through robust national and local risk 

assessment frameworks. These include utilising and aligning with National Fire 

Chiefs Council guidance and National Fire Standards to manage operational 
and strategic risks. The Service also maintains a directorate risk register and 

acts as the local authorities lead agency in business continuity, resilience, and 
emergency planning. This report is not recommending any policy decision, 
strategy or project involving major change that would impact on the current risk 

profile. 

Consultations 

 
13. There were no specific consultation considerations and requirements in 

producing the Directorates, report of annual performance.  

 
 

NAME    Rob MacDougall, Director of Community Safety and Chief 
    Fire Officer 
 

Annex: Community Safety Services, Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Background papers: Nil 
 

Page 73

https://oxfordshirecountycouncil-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/vr637230_oxfordshire_gov_uk/EUJ-lsfik_JBnT_EWnjkfCsBeTXy63faaD0c8nv-Pv4iBQ?e=AHJ1IH


[Other Documents:]  

 2021-22 Service Delivery Plan, Community Safety 
Services 

 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service, Community Risk 
Management Plan, 2022-26 

 HMICFRS Inspection Report 2021/22, Oxfordshire Fire 
and Rescue Service, Effectiveness efficiency and people. 

 
Contact Officer: Angela Smallwood, Performance Improvement manager, 

Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Telephone: 07748114647 
 Angela.smallwood@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
November 2022 

Page 74

https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/fire/businesssupport/OCCCommunitySafetyServiceDeliveryPlanSDP2021-22.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/2021OFRSAnnualreport.pdf


 Community Safety Services

  Annual 
Report
2021-2022           We are here to 

protect our community, reduce harm 
           and save lives

FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
OXFORDSHIRE

P
age 75



Welcome  
and Foreword
Throughout 2021/22 our teams continued 
to work towards our purpose ‘we are here 
to protect our community, reduce harm 
and save lives. 
We continued to build on the lessons learnt 
through our COVID working practices to make 
improvements, and develop our prevention 
activities across all of Community Safety 
Services which lead to a safer and thriving 
Oxfordshire.

Towards the later stages of the year, we 
launched our new vision and Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP) for 2022-2026.

The new vision sets out our aims to continue 
to strengthen our services and improve over 
the next four years, through being community 
focussed, forward thinking, trusted and inclusive, 
and sustainable in all our work.  

Our Community Risk Management Plan sets out 
what we need to achieve over the four years to 
make sure we continue to manage and reduce 
the fire related risks to Oxfordshire. 

Our four strategic priority areas are: 

Protection

Prevention 

Response 

People 

This year saw our third inspection from Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Service’s (HMICFRS) in December. 
Inspectors assessed how effectively and 
efficiently the service prevents and protects the 
public against fires and how well it looks after 
staff. The Inspectorate awarded Oxfordshire 
three ‘good’ ratings in its effectiveness, 
efficiency, and people categories.

As the Cabinet Member and Director of 
Community Safety Services for Oxfordshire 
we are pleased to present this report on our 
performance over the last year to our local 
communities.

Rob MacDougall
Director of Community Safety 
and Chief Fire Officer  

Councillor  
Jenny Hannaby
Cabinet Member for 
Community Services 
and Safety  

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Welcome and Foreword page 2

P
age 76

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/fire-and-rescue/OCCCRMP2022-26.pdf


Community Safety Services is part of Oxfordshire 
County Council and is made up of five teams.

Community 
Safety Services

Oxfordshire 
Fire & Rescue 

Services

Gypsy and 
Traveller 
Services Road 

Safety

Trading 
Standards

Emergency 
Planning

These teams work together to achieve 
Oxfordshire County Council’s vision 

to lead positive 
change by working in 
partnership to make 
Oxfordshire a greener, 
fairer and healthier 
county.

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Welcome and Foreword page 3

P
age 77



Some of  
the highlights
A snapshot of key achievements 
and highlights of the work done 
by Community Safety Services 
throughout the year.

500
Fire Safety Audits 

completed in commercial 
premises by our Fire 
Safety team. Over 200 
more than last year.

3,034
Safe & Well visits 

completed ensuring 
our residents receive 
essential safety advice 
and we reduce risk in 
the home. Over 580 
more than last year.

£195,080
Saved or recovered for 
victims of doorstep 

crime, scams and other 
forms of financial 

abuse.

4,374
children took part in our 
cycle training programme 
which aims to teach 

children aged 7-11 to ride 
a bicycle safely. Over 1,800 

more than last year.

49
Road Traffic Enforcement 
prosecutions led by 
our Trading Standards 
department, resulting in 

fines and costs  
of £29,142.

747
electric blankets tested 
with a failure rate of 

31%, ensuring residents 
using these have safe 
items reducing risk 

from a fire.

46,386 
miles driven in our 

electric fleet, reducing 
the environmental 
impact of visits we 
 need to make.

130 
businesses visited in 
our Fire Safety week, 

delivering preventative fire 
safety advice in person by 

specially trained  
fire crews. 

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Some of the highlights page 4

P
age 78



Areas of 
improvement
We have identified these areas of 
improvement, acknowledging they 
require long term objectives and 
programmes to establish lasting 
improvement. These form part 
of our strategies, linked to our 
Community Risk Management Plan.

Unwanted fire signals continue to rise, and this is an
area being considered nationally as well as in Oxfordshire. These 
types of calls are automatic fire alarm activations to commercial 
premises. We are working with our Thames Valley partners 
and combined Fire Control to consider changes to policy and 
procedures which could reduce the burden of these calls. Our 
Fire Safety team is also proactively educating business owners 
of commercial premises about how manage these alarms 
themselves, preventing the need for call outs.

On-call availability levels have not improved this year
and we continue to review all elements which affect this and 
how we can improve our availability.  We recruited fewer 
on-call firefighters this year than in the previous two years, 
27 recruits compared with 52 last year. We recently launched 
our new inclusive recruitment campaign and we will evaluate 
the outcomes of this later in the year. We are also looking at 
retention of on-call firefighters through a project. This year, our 
turnover rate was 14.66% compared with 15.41% in the previous 
year. Whilst fairly static, it is higher than we would like it to be.

False alarms in  
commercial premises

2019-20     2020-21     2021-22

1,200  
1,100 
1,000 

900 
800 
700 
600 
500 
400 
300 
200 
100 

0

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Areas of improvement page 5

P
age 79



New initiatives
We established a new training site for water 
rescue courses, using Europe’s largest water 
testing facility at HR Wallingford. This provides 
our staff with a clean environment to train in 
and allows us to practice new scenarios, such 
as “vehicle in water”, in a safe and controlled 
environment. Crews have fed back that the new 
site allows them to practice rescue techniques in 
a realistic but safe and clean environment.

We worked with cross-sector partners to 
launch Bike Libraries across Oxfordshire in 
primary schools, community settings, with faith 
groups and to support young, unaccompanied 
refugees who are making a new home in the 
county. Bike Libraries enable families and 
residents to actively travel to school, work or to 
participate in social activities where previously 
they were facing a barrier to doing so. Removing 
these barriers provides people with the means to 
travel safely and be active, creating employment 
opportunities and improving family cohesion, 
while having a positive environmental impact.  

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | New initiatives  page 6

The creation of a new collaborative team, 
the Fire Forensic Scene Investigation Unit, 
working in partnership with Thames Valley 
Police, Royal Berkshire Fire & Rescue Service 
and Buckinghamshire Fire & Rescue Service to 
achieve the accreditation that is required by the 
Forensic Regulator. 

Expansion of our electric fleet to include our 
two hydrant maintenance vehicles. In the 
previous year these two vehicles travelled over 
9,000 miles. Converting these miles to electric 
miles helps mitigate our impact on the climate 
and work towards the council’s priority of putting 
action to address the climate emergency at the 
heart of our work 

P
age 80

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/energy-and-climate-change/climate-action-oxfordshire
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/energy-and-climate-change/climate-action-oxfordshire


365 alive performance
365 alive was Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service’s vision to ensure that we are 
working every day to save and improve 
the lives of people across Oxfordshire. The 
vision is supported by Road Safety, Trading 
Standards, Emergency Planning and Gypsy 
and Traveller’s Services. 

More people alive thanks to 
our prevention, protection and 
emergency response activities2021/22 

objectives 
and targets

Target

2021/22

1,059

How did  
we do

896

6 year 
objectives 
and targets 

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | 365 alive performance  page 7

6yr

6,000

5,597

This objective has five areas of performance activity. It is 
focussed on how our preventative activities help to reduce 
fatalities and injuries and reduce the risk to the public. Whilst 
we haven’t met our overall target, we understand the reasons 
why.  Some of our activities working with emergency partners 
were no longer required, such as co-responding for South 
Central Ambulance Service. We also recognise that there 
were more fatalities on our roads. A possible reason for this 
is that the nature of road users has changed with an increase 
in vulnerable road users, such as pedal cyclists. This is very 
much a focus of our prevention work.

P
age 81



Children and Young Adults (to 
include looked after children) 
to be better educated to lead 
safer and healthier lives

Target

How did  
we do

2021/22

14,640

38,095

6yr

85,000

318,015

This objective measures our performance 
in activities based on preventative safety 
education to children and young adults. 
We have exceeded our target in this area 
by a significant margin.  At the time of 
setting this target we hadn’t expected 
to have the ability to reach so many 
people through improvements in digital 
technology and the way we deliver our 
initiatives. Our new ways of working with 
digital technology will continue to be 
developed.  

Vulnerable children and adults 
helped to lead more secure and 
independent lives, supported 
by safe and well visits

2021/22

6,250

5,497

6yr

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | 365 alive performance  page 8

37,500

38,253

This objective measures three 
specific areas of work which are 
usually face to face contacts. 
In the previous year, lockdown 
restrictions impacted heavily on 
this area. Despite this, we have 
reached many residents over the 
past six years, delivering targeted 
advice and critical safety advice 
to those most in need.

Businesses given advice 
to support and grow

2021/22

3,409

2,628

6yr

 20,000

19,550
This objective has several targeted activities 
aimed at businesses. Some activities are 
advice and educational, others are statutory or 
inspections which could result in interventions 
and ultimately prosecutions. It is essential 
that commercial premises have the right 
information and advice to ensure staff and 
visitors are safe. Some activities within this area 
are face to face and were therefore affected by 
the pandemic. Due to businesses changing in 
response to the pandemic, we are also having 
to alter our ways of working.

P
age 82



Thames Valley Fire 
Control Service (TVFCS)
TVFCS handle emergency calls and mobilise 
appropriate resources to incidents. They 
ensure essential and relevant information is 
passed to firefighters. TVFCS liaise with other 
emergency services and outside agencies as 
necessary to deal with incidents we attend.

TVFCS has engaged with several 
national initiatives to improve 
sector resilience when a single FRS 
receives more 999 calls than it has the 
capacity to answer. 
These arrangements were used on 18 
February 2022, when the impacts of Storm 
Eunice caused emergency calls to be routed 
into TVFCS in numbers not seen for many 
years. TVFCS calls which exceeded capacity 
were answered by FRS controls across the 
UK and passed back to TVFCS for action. 

TVFCS employs 39 FTE shift-based staff  
across four watches and management.

which led to over  

  19,000 (19,395)
mobilisations to incidents.

TVFCS handled over 

 35,000 (35,894)
emergency calls

Over 95% of calls were 
answered within five 
seconds and over 97% 
of calls were answered 
within ten seconds.

Over

95% Hello... 
Over

97% Hello... 
In over 70% of calls, vehicles 
were mobilised to emergency 

incidents within 90 seconds of a 
call being answered.

Over

70%
On our way...

00:05

00:10

01:30

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Thames Valley Fire Control Service (TVFCS)  page 9

P
age 83



08:40

Response Standards and Operational Availability
Response standards 
Our core function is to respond effectively when an emergency incident occurs that requires fire and 
rescue service assistance. This response service is provided from 25 fire stations across the county.

We have set the following response attendance times:

We aim for 80% of attendances to be made within 11 minutes, and 95% to be made 
within 14 minutes of a call.

Response 
standards 
for the year 
2021/22 were:

76.73% 2020/21 
response standards  

<11mins

74.85% 87.37%
88.60% 2020/21 

response standards  
<14mins

Our average response time  
8 minutes 40 seconds 
08:36 2020/21

Six fire stations are crewed by whole-time personnel. Three of these provide 24-hour cover. The other 
three provide cover in the day and an on-call service at night. All 25 fire stations have an on-call crew; 
19 fire stations are crewed only by on-call personnel. These stations provide an emergency response 
to our communities.

We aspire to provide 100% availability at all on-call fire stations

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Response Standards and Operational Availability  page 10

On-call availability
We aspire to provide 100% availability 
at all on-call fire stations.

On-call availability across Oxfordshire  
for 2021/22 was 62.40% – a decrease 
compared with the previous year’s figure 
which was 72.30%.

There are many factors which impact on-call 
availability including recruitment, retention, 
contracts, cover from 
fulltime (wholetime 
crews and 
operational day 
duties staff).

P
age 84



Response Standards
Cherwell

On-call Availability

Response Standards
Oxford City

On-call Availability

Response Standards
South Oxfordshire 

On-call Availability

Response Standards
Vale of White Horse 

On-call Availability

Response Standards
West Oxfordshire

On-call Availability

In <11 mins

73%
In <14 mins

87%

1st Pump

63%
In <11 mins

94%
In <14 mins

97%

1st Pump

23%

In <11 mins

58%
In <14 mins

78%

1st Pump

61%

In <11 mins

68%
In <14 mins

84%

1st Pump

84%

In <11 mins

55%
In <14 mins

78%

1st Pump

66%

West
Oxfordshire

Cherwell

South
Oxfordshire 

Vale of
White Horse 

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Response Standards and Operational Availability  page 11

P
age 85



Service Delivery 
Activities 
and incident 
information
This year, we saw our incident numbers 
increase back to those of pre pandemic 
numbers. Almost half of incidents were 
classified as false alarms and the other 
half distributed equally between fires 
and special service incidents. The largest 
proportion of Special Service calls were 
road traffic collisions and effecting entry 
incidents. We are seeing a three-year 
reduction in injuries sustained in fires.

Total  
incidents 

6,120

3% 8% 18%

Effecting
entry/exit

7%

Flooding

4%

Lift
Release

11%

Medical
Incident - 

Co responder

5%

No action
(not false 

alarm)

3%

Removal of 
objects from 

people

4%

Making safe 
(not road traffic 

collision)

23%

Road traffic 
collision

EXIT

Animal assistance
incidents

Assist other
agencies

Special Service  top 10

Fire

20%
False Alarm

50%
Special
Service

30%

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Service Delivery Activities and incident information  page 12

P
age 86



35%
Non

Residential

<1%
Aircraft

<1%
Boat

1%
Outdoor

structures

4%
Road

Vehicle

9%
Other

Residential

5%
Outdoor

46%
Dwelling

False alarm by propert type Injuries from fire over past 3 years

Fires past 3 years

35%
Non

Residential

<1%
Aircraft

<1%
Boat

1%
Outdoor

structures

4%
Road

Vehicle

9%
Other

Residential

5%
Outdoor

46%
Dwelling

2019-20     2020-21     2021-22

100 
90 
80 
70 
60 
50 
40 
30 
20 
10 

0

Primary 
fire

Non- 
primary 

fire

2019-20

 

800 

700 

600 

500 

400 

300 

200 

100 

0

Primary 
fire

Non- 
primary 

fire

2020-21
Primary 

fire
Non- 

primary 
fire

2021-22

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Service Delivery Activities and incident information  page 13

P
age 87



Prevention

Safe & Well 
We have seen an increase in the number of Safe & 
Well visits this year which are undertaken by our 
specialist Home and Community Safety Advisors 
and operational crews.

We have also seen the number of referrals for a 
Safe & Well visit from partner agencies increase 
which is a benefit of our partnership working.

In January we ran a Safe & Well campaign aimed 
at those most vulnerable to dying in a fire. We 
targeted professionals and family members going 
into vulnerable people’s homes, asking them to 
ensure that there was working smoke detection 
those homes. We saw a peak in referrals and 
requests for Safe & Well visits during this period.

A priority in 2022/23 for our Prevention team is 
to build on the success of Safe & Well, using data 
to help us target those most at risk alongside 
improving our online service.  This will enable us 
to focus face-to-face visits to those who require 
specific support. 

2019-20

3,500 

3,000 

2,500 

2,000 

1,500 

1,000 

500 

0
2020-21 2021-22

Safe and well visits
Referrals from partner agencies

350 

300 

250 

200 

150 

100 

50 

0

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Prevention  page 14

P
age 88



Safeguarding concerns and referrals 
Overall numbers are increasing year-on-year  
for raising safeguarding concerns or making  
care and support needs referrals to partner 
agencies. This means we are helping more 
vulnerable residents receive the support that 
they need from the right agency, and building 
stronger partnership working through  
increased confidence in reporting.

Cycle Training and  
Road Safety education
Over the past year, 4,374 children have taken 
part in our cycle training programme (compared 
with 1,808 the previous year; and 4,401 the year 
before that) which aims to teach every child 
(aged 7-11) to ride a bicycle safely over a two 
year period.

We supported the family cycle training 
programme by working with Active Oxfordshire 
to set up a Bike Library and using fire stations to 
collect donated bicycles for Oxfordshire families 
who could not afford them previously.

We also supported local charities helping newly 
arrived families (from Afghanistan, for example) 
to feel safe in their new surroundings by 
providing road safety education/advice.

The number of fatalities on our roads has not 
risen. The education activities in all aspects of 
road safety are targeted to those most at risk, 
and we work with partner agencies to ensure 
our road safety campaigns are combined and 
consistent.

4,374
Children participated 
in our cycle training 

prigramme

2019-20

350 

300 

250 

200 

150 

100 

50 

0
2020-21 2021-22

Safeguarding concerns raised to social care 
and referrals to other partner agencies

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

30 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0

Road traffic collision fatalities

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Prevention  page 15

P
age 89



Protection

In 2021/22 our Fire Safety department 
has made enhancements and created 
opportunities, using the Grenfell grant uplift 
funding received from Government.

Fire Safety Audits
Last year, four ex-OFRS employees were 
recruited as additional Fire Safety Inspectors 
using the post-Grenfell fire protection funding 
from central government. This additional 
capacity, realised without the wait normally 
associated with training new staff, gave the 
resource to the department to deliver 500 audits 
– 24% up on the previous record set in 2018.

We target our activities to undertake audits at 
buildings we have deemed to be the highest risk, 
therefore ensuring safety to those who work 
and visit these premises.  Finding fire safety 
precautions which are unsatisfactory during an 
audit is a sign that it has been well targeted. We 
have seen an increase in unsatisfactory audits in 
line with the number of audits completed.

500
Fire safety audits 

completed in 2021-22

500 
450 
400 
350 
300 
250 
200 
150 
100 

50 
0

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Fire safety audits 
completed

40 

35 

30 

25 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0
2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Unsatisfactory audits 
 - formal action taken

 

180 

160 

140 

120 

100 

80 

60 

40 

20 

0
2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Unsatisfactory audits  
- informal 

  working under covid restrictions

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Protection  page 16

P
age 90



Upskilling our workforce 

The introduction of a new 
Competency Framework for 
Fire Safety Regulators sets new 
standards and expectations of qualifications 
for those working within Fire Protection. A 
member of the team is now undertaking a Fire 
Engineering degree and utilising the skills being 
developed. The inspecting officer attending 
the degree course runs regular development 
sessions for the team on areas of knowledge 
they are developing. Using the uplift grant 
gave our team the opportunity to improve our 
technical knowledge and ability. This sharing 
of the enhanced knowledge is extending to 
Operational Crews.   

Business Engagement

Through the uplift grant we’ve been able to 
appoint a full-time Business Engagement Officer. 
Undertaking business engagement is a key area 
for Fire Safety and through this new post we 
hope to deliver a better understanding about 
fire safety for businesses which will reduce 
fires, deaths and serious injuries in commercial 
premises. A business engagement initiative 
was delivered in March. This saw a concerted 
campaign of social media content targeting 
restaurants and takeaways over a period of two 
weeks, running alongside in-person visits to 130 
such businesses by local uniformed operational 
crews who delivered booklets and posters while 
answering any basic fire safety questions.

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Protection  page 17

P
age 91



Trading Standards

 1245  
visits to businesses -  

providing advice, checking 
compliance with legal 

requirements and testing 
products.

 
Saved or recovered

£195,080  
for victims of doorstep crime, 
scams and other forms of 
financial abuse (including 

responding to 76 incidents of 
doorstep crime).

Legal metrology  
(weights and measures) – 
Inspectors of Weights and 

Measures tested  
and verified over

780 items  
of weighing and  

measuring equipment.

We safety tested 

747 electric 
blankets 
of which 230 failed  
the test – a 31% 
 failure rate.

Trading Standards have participated 
in Operation CeCe, a national initiative 
playing a significant role in disrupting 
the illicit tobacco trade, and in the last 
12 months has seized nearly 750,000 
illegal cigarettes and 60,000 grams of 
illegal hand-rolling and shisha tobacco 
in Oxfordshire. The availability of cheap, 
illegal tobacco can undermine smokers’ 
efforts to stop and bring organised 
criminal gangs into local communities.

seized nearly

750,000 
illegal cigarettes

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Trading Standards  page 18

P
age 92



183 call blocking  
devices have been installed by 
Trading Standards since 2015, 
to protect vulnerable residents from  
nuisance and scam phone calls. 

•  We estimate that the project has already 
prevented 262 scams and made savings of 
£1,930,560. 

•  Over the operational life of these units, they 
will have blocked 316,516 nuisance calls (of 
which 86,879 will have been scam phone 
calls), 

• Prevented 513 scams, 
•  Saved vulnerable households £1,513,149 and 
led to a reduction of £1,405,506 in public 
service costs (NHS, social care & police). 

•  There will be wellbeing benefits of £353,739 
across all users, and for those who would have 
been scam victims there are quality of life 
benefits of £860,117. This gives total project 
benefits of £4,132,511 of which £2,918,655 
are direct financial benefits. 

•  We estimate direct financial savings of  
62 times the cost of the project.

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Trading Standards  page 19

‘Recruited’ 

307 Friends 
Against Scams 
(friendsagainstscams.org.uk).

‘Friends’ learn how to protect 
themselves and their loved ones from 
scams and help to raise awareness 
throughout their community.  
Anybody can join Friends  
Against Scams and make  
a difference in their  

own way.

Trading Standards’  
prosecutions completed in 2021/22  
led to offenders being sentenced to a 

total of almost eight years imprisonment 
– with many others given suspended 
sentences and/or ordered to complete 

unpaid work. 

£26,676  
was recovered from criminals, via the 
Proceeds of Crime Act and the Asset 
Recovery Incentivisation Scheme –  
with such funds being put back into 
consumer protection and crime  

eduction activities.

P
age 93



2021/22 Road Traffic Enforcement Figures
Prosecutions: 

49
Total fines 
and costs: 

£29,142
Average fine: 
£594.73

Warning 
letters: 
106

Public 
reports: 
228

Vehicles seen  
by officers  

during checks 
37

FPN’s issued by 
TVP during stop 

checks:

13

ANPR camera 
Reports at 

Newbridge:

812

Vehicles stopped 
during joint 

checks with TVP:

41

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | 2021/22 Road Traffic Enforcement Figures  page 20

Our numbers of prosecutions and the total fines and costs are higher than the previous year (37, £19,531)

Restriction: No. of public reports
Appleford 8
Bampton 23
Banbury 1
Blackthorn 2
Cassington 1
Charlbury 9
Clifton Hampden & 
Long Wittenham 21
Deddington 3

Restriction: No. of public reports
Faringdon 1
Garsington, Wheatley  
& Horspath 10
Goring 1
Halfpenny Lane 
(Moulsford/Cholsey) 18
Islip 1
Kidlington 3
Launton 54
Little Milton 4
Marsh Baldon 1

Restriction: No. of public reports
Radcot 1
Sonning 1
Sutton Courtenay 3
Warborough 2
Watlington 57
West Hagbourne 2
Whitchurch-on-Thames 1

P
age 94



Gypsy and  
Traveller Service
Oxfordshire County Council has 
a duty of care to all Gypsy and 
Travellers within the county and will 
address their welfare, health and 
educational needs.

Gypsy and Traveller Services is 
committed to ensuring that all issues that 
affect Travellers staying on land within 
the county are dealt with in a balanced 
and proportionate manner. Decisions 
taken by the unit are open to audit under 
the Human Rights Act and The Equalities 
Act 2010.

Our Gypsy and Traveller Service attend 
unauthorised encampments in the 
county and manage the six council-
owned permanent Gypsy and Traveller 
sites which have a total of 89 plots.

As with all our public facing service 
teams, work was undertaken to ensure 
that both our staff and those we were 
meeting were kept COVID safe. Many of 
our usual work practices were changed 
to comply with the Government 
guidelines and legislation for COVID.

Key activities for the team throughout 2020-21: 

1 Responded to and resolved 29 unauthorised encampments during the year. 
This was a reduced number on last year (33) and remains a low number in 
comparison to previous years.  

2Last year Universal Credit was a serious issue with debts being incurred by 
the residents, we have been able to work with Universal Credits to ensure that 
residents do not fall into debt. 

We are still working with all councils, landowners and developers within 
Oxfordshire on how best to protect open spaces and play areas from 
unauthorised encampments and have started doing site surveys for all councils.  
We have also produced information guidance where site visits are not possible.3
We are awaiting the publication of the full details of the Police Bill which has 
just received Royal Assent. This will increase the powers of the Police service in 
respect of unauthorised encampments should they wish to use them. 4

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Gypsy and Traveller Service  page 21

P
age 95



Emergency  
Planning Unit
The Emergency Planning team 
helps Oxfordshire County Council 
to meet our statutory duties to 
have robust emergency plans and 
business continuity arrangements 
and promote resilience within 
communities. 

Community Resilience: The team have 
statutory duties to help communities 
prepare for emergencies, assist with business 
continuity, and have processes to warn, 
inform and support the public in emergencies.

Over 2,000 In Case of Emergency (ICE) 
bottles issued to vulnerable households 
(compared to 600 in the previous year)

Over 1,700 Community Resilience bags 
distributed to residents (compared to 1,300 in 
previous year)

Our Emergency Planning Unit attended a variety 
of talks throughout the year including: Women’s 
Institute talks, Parish meetings, Christmas Lights, 
Parish fetes, health on the move. This year we 
focussed on social media engagement, with 
an agreement to post warning and informing 
messages on OFRS social media sites out of 
hours. Posts average between 10,000-25,000 
engagements per post depending on the 
incident. 

Additionally, a Community Resilience Framework 
is in its final stages with the team and looks to 
standardise our community resilience approach. 
The team has been working to clear a backlog of 
work from the COVID response and this has had 
an impact on the level of community resilience 
activities which have been able to take place. 
Moving forward, this should ease. Business 
engagement has been identified as an area to 
improve for 2022/23. 

Exercises: 
The team ran a two Health 
and Safety Executive 
assessed statutory 

exercises:

Oqema Control of 
Major Accidents 
Hazards (COMAH) 
exercise

Southern Bomb 
Store COMAH 
exercise

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Emergency Planning Unit  page 22

P
age 96



Key achievements for the team 
throughout 2021/22 include

Emergency  
Response:

The team responded to 
incidents, activated by  
the Duty Emergency  

Planning Officer (DEPO)  
which included:

Two public 
order protest 

events

Two water 
disruption 
incidents

Afghan 
repatriations and 
support to Bridging 

hotels

Covid 
response

Two incidents 
involving off site 
impacts from roof 
damage at RAF 
Brize Norton

Death of 
the Duke of 
Edinburgh

Support to 
residents 
evacuated 
following five 
fire incidents 

Osney 
Bridge leak

Fire affecting 
a REPPIR site

Support to 
Rowe Court 
fire, ReadingStorm Eunice and 

five other weather-
related events

Thatched 
property fire

Avian flu

Two significant 
power outages

Three closures of 
the A34, one of 
the M40 and one 
of the A420

Power outage 
affecting two 
care homes

Ukraine support 
including paediatric 

oncology 
repatriations

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Emergency Planning Unit  page 23

P
age 97



Our staff said:

This i
s important because:

We have:

Our staff said:

This i
s important because:

We have:

FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
OXFORDSHIRE

Learning and 
Improvement
We take every opportunity to learn both 
from ourselves and others.  

We monitor incidents, crews, training and 
exercises, and use systems to examine skills, 
techniques, procedures and our interactions 
with others. After every incident or training 
event we provide an opportunity for staff to 
discuss what went well, what didn’t go well, 
and how improvements can be made. 

We have introduced a new Multi Department 
Operational Assurance group and process 
to ensure that we can triangulate lessons 
and good practice from throughout our 
service, regionally and nationally. The group 
discuss and agrees improvements through 
equipment, procedures, information 
and training and ensures that these are 
implemented and embedded.

Learning from Fire & Rescue incidents and training:

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Learning and Improvement  page 24

The purchase of new 
ratchet tools to assist with 
rescuing people from cars 
(this followed feedback and 
trial using the equipment 
by station personnel)

Our staff said:

This i
s important because:

We have:

We feel that there are new 
tools to assist with RTCs and 
we should try them. This 
includes the ratchet tools.

 It enables our crews to gain 
access to vehicles in road 

crashes and rescue casualties 
more quickly.

Trialled and subsequently 
bought the new ratchet tools 

to enable this.

The purchase of different 
bags to keep RTC gear in a 
safe and effective manner 
as previous containers 
were breaking easily.

 The existing boxes that 
hold RTC rescue gear 
break too easily.

It is important to protect our 
equipment to prevent damage 
and loss and to enable crews 
to access it in the speediest 

manner possible.

Purchased new RTC bags to 
keep our equipment safe and 

easily accessible.

Our staff said: 

This  is   
important       
  because:

We  have:  

P
age 98



The planned rollout of 
‘Highrise boards’ to improve 
recording of information 
to assist the searching 
of Highrise buildings 
during an incident.

We need to ensure that we 
can record search information 
when carrying out complex 
searches of buildings.

As we have seen the 
complexity of rescues from 
fires in some complex 
buildings such as  
Grenfell tower.

Bought and are in the process 
of rolling out these ‘Highrise 
boards’ to assist with fire 

survival guidance and rescues 
in complex buildings.

The use of thermal Image 
cameras by officers in 

charge to assess buildings 
and situations before 
committing crews.

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Learning and Improvement  page 25

We would like to be able to 
assess a building from outside 

using a thermal  
image camera.

 It enables officers in charge 
to determine where the fire is, 
how best to rescue people and 
to be able to assess the scene 
throughout an incident.

Rolled out thermal image 
cameras for officers in charge 

across our fleet of  
fire engines.

Learning from National events

Following the tragic events in 2017 at Grenfell and the subsequent 
initial stages of the inquiry, we have explored how we can improve 
our service and our ability to prevent, mitigate and respond to an 
incident of this nature. We are working alongside our Thames Valley FRS 
partners through an agreed action plan of improvements. This includes 
operational procedures concerning similar incidents, communications 
with other services, call handling, incident command and training.

Following a tragic firefighter fatality whilst carrying out water rescue 
training in another county in 2019, a working group has been set up. 
This group is examining the equipment, procedures, command, risk 
information and assessment of risk generally concerning boat and water 
operations. This group is aligning the service with national best practice 
as promoted by the NFCC.

P
age 99



Looking forward
Our service priorities for 2022-23 are aligned 
to the underpinning strategies for our new 
Community Risk Management Plan:

• To engage in the ‘Delivering the Future 
Together’ programme, revisiting 12:3:2 with 
our staff and the embedding of county values 
in one to ones, managing for performance, 
recruitment, promotion, to build on the 
positive culture and behaviours of Community 
Safety Services.

• Development of a mapping tool to improve the 
risk profiling of communities to enable crews 
to prioritise prevention activities to maximise 
the reduction of risk in the community. 

• Analysis of the outcomes of our Fire Protection 
themed audits to inform whether certain 
commercial premises types should be 
included in our Risk Based Inspection Program 
(RBIP), to ensure that our RBIP remains 
focussed on the risks in the community. 

• Review the nationally produced Home Fire 
Safety Visit and promote the use of it to 
lower risk requests for advice, releasing our 

resources to carry out face to face visits with 
those that are highest risk in the community.

• To continue our collaboration with partners, 
to deliver aligned training on newly procured 
breathing apparatus and formation of a 
Thames Valley fire investigation provision, 
to improve efficiency and interoperability 
between our partners.  

• Develop an asset strategy that aligns with 
corporate objectives, incorporating a review 
our buildings and deliver options to include 
the opportunities in hybrid ways of working 
that COVID-19 has highlighted, to improve 
agile working and the most effectives use of 
our premises.

• Increase our diversity by continuing to 
make improvements to the recruitment 
processes, we will continue to learn from 
our positive action campaigns ensuring 
this further improves the new joiners 
experience in the future. We will maintain 
the increase in community engagement with 
underrepresented groups across all 25 fire 
stations.

• Improve the operational availability of our fire 
appliances, through recruitment and retention 
of operational staff, ensuring we provide an 
effective and timely emergency response, 
increasing productivity of firefighters will 
further reducing the impact of fires and other 
emergencies.

• To further develop our wholetime watched 
based staff to confidently and competently 
complete increased activity in the areas of 
prevention and protection, to enable them 
to undertake a range of activities to support 
public and firefighter safety and delivery of 
efficiencies by increased work productivity.

• To implement alternative leadership 
succession and promotional processes 
in order to deliver staff development 
improvements and to support talent.

• To continue the transition of our fleet to 
electric vehicles in support of the county 
council’s climate change agenda.

• To increase skills, competence and 
understanding of how appropriately enforced 

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Looking forward  page 26

P
age 100



regulation can assist carbon reduction 
activities, such as property energy performance 
certificates, ‘green-claims’ and alternative fuels 
(move from diesel/petrol storage).

• To review the Trading Standards approach to 
business consultancy services to ensure our 
structure and assess the potential for growth 
of those services.    

We will monitor our progress through 
our key performance objectives for 
2022-23:
• Deliver our Strategies (Year 1 milestones) which 

align to our CRMP, reducing risk and demand 
for services.

• Closely monitor response time targets for 
emergency incidents.

• Improve fire engine availability.

• Increase the diversity of the workforce.

• Work towards being carbon neutral to support 
the county council’s climate action framework.

Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021 - 2022 | Looking forward  page 27

P
age 101



Contact us
Should you require any further information please contact us:

Community Safety Services 
Sterling Road 
Kidlington 
OX5 2DU

Telephone: 01865 895 999

8.30am - 5pm, Monday – Thursday 
8.30am - 4pm, Fridays

P
age 102



1 
 

AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

WORK PROGRAMME – 2022/23 

 

 

23 November 2022 

1. OFRS Statement of Assurance 2021-22 (Faisal Atcha) 

2. Counter Fraud Plan – Progress Report (Sarah Cox) 

3. Annual Whistleblowing Report (Anita Bradley) 

4. Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 Update (Anita Bradley) 

5. E&Y update (Maria Grindley / Adrian Balmer) 

6. Treasury Management Midterm Review 2022/23 (Tim Chapple) 

 
18 January 2023 

1. Local Code of Corporate Governance (Anita Bradley) 

2. Financial Management Code – Summary Compliance Assessment (Lorna 

Baxter/Kathy Wilcox) 

3. Audit Plan – Progress Report (Sarah Cox) 

4. E&Y update (Maria Grindley / Adrian Balmer) 

5. Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for 

2023/24 (Tim Chapple) 

6. Procurement Update – Social Value (Lorna Baxter/Melissa Sage) 

7. Risk Management Update (Louise Tustian) 

 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Draft Statement of Accounts 2021/22
	6 Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 Update
	7 Annual Whistleblowing Report
	Item 7 - Annex A Whistleblowing Policy

	8 Counter Fraud Plan - Progress Report
	9 Audit Working Group update - 9 November 2022 meeting
	10 Treasury Management Midterm Review 2022/23
	12 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service Statement of Assurance 2021-22
	Item 12 - Annex A Statement of Assurance 2021-22

	13 Community Safety Services Annual Report 2021/22
	Item 13 - Annex CSS annual report 2022
	Structure Bookmarks


	14 Committee's Work Programme 2022/23



